Citizenship Perspectives of Mainland Chinese Students in a Canadian International School

Ву

Erald Vero

A Thesis Presented to Lakehead University
in Partial Fulfillment for the Degree of

Master of Education

Thunder Bay, Ontario, Canada, 2022

© Erald Vero, 2022

All rights reserved. This is a true copy of the thesis, including any required final revisions, as accepted by the examiners. This thesis may not be reproduced in part or whole by photocopy or any other means without the permission of the author.

Abstract

Ever since the opening of the Chinese market in the late 20th century, international educational programs started to blossom. British Columbia Offshore Schools (BCOS) started to emerge in the mid-90s with their first opening from Maple Leaf Educational Systems in Dalian. Their student population continued to see growth in many educational companies; however, in recent years, its population started to decline, and the program has been criticized for being culturally based on the curriculum in the West and not taking the perspectives of Chinese culture.

This qualitative research study explored the citizenship perspectives of five students in Grades 11 and 12 enrolled in BCOS in Mainland China. The data were collected using semi-structured Zoom interviews. Guided questions were prepared and adjusted during the interview based on participants' English language comprehension.

The results of this research suggest participants believed in *Personally-responsible*, *Participatory*, or *Patriotic* citizenship with Chinese core values guiding their perspectives and the emergence of *Justice-oriented* citizens. Their inner circle and outer circle impacted their citizenship engagement and perception. Each participant expressed different benefits and challenges to engage in citizenship, including financial resources, family contributions, curriculum implementation, and personal interests. Overall, Chinese BCOS students are keen and eager to engage in citizenship development opportunities, and further support is needed by the student body, school community, and BC Ministry of Education to shape their citizenship.

Keywords: Chinese Citizenship, International Education, British Columbia Offshore Schools, engagement, Socialist Core Values, patriotic

Acknowledgements

I would like to thank my family, friends, and mentors for guiding me towards completing my Master of Education while working full time in person and online during the COVID-19 pandemic in Mainland China.

This thesis would have not been completed without the support of British Columbia Offshore Schools superintendents and administrators. With their support, I was able to collect valuable perspectives from a variety of students across Mainland China. I also want to thank all the participants who volunteered their time to share opinions and perspectives on BCOS and citizenship. I thoroughly enjoy listening to every single one of them.

Most importantly, I would like to thank Dr. Pauline Sameshima and Dr. Sonia

Mastrangelo for their advice to pursue a thesis route and helped me to find a supervisor. Above all, I am very thankful for the support of my supervisor Dr. Gary Pluim who guided me throughout the research process, provided valuable feedback, and encouragement. My knowledge was limited and without his guidance, I would be completely lost.

Lastly, I would like to acknowledge the support I received from the administration and colleagues at Zhenjiang, and my friends across China. The experiences and friendships I built along the way shaped my identity today.

Table of Contents

Author's Declaration
Abstract
Acknowledgments 4
Table of Contents
List of Appendices
Chapter 1: Introduction9
Further Research Justification
Existing Chinese Education Model
British Columbia Offshore Schools in China
Research Purpose and Questions14
Chapter 2: Literature Review15
Notions of Citizenship
Conceptions of "Global Citizenship"
Chinese Features of Citizenship
Chinese Citizenship policies
1904 – 1978
1978 – Present
Citizenship engagement
Western Curriculum and Engagement Factors
Chinese Citizenship Engagement
Chapter 3: Methodology: Literature Review
Methodological Choice
Research Design

Participant Selection and Recruitment	4
Data Collection	6
Data Analysis	7
Research Biases and Assumptions	8
Participants Profiles	8
Chapter 4: Findings44	4
Introduction to Findings	4
Reflections of Methodology	5
Finding 1: What are the general perceived differences between Canadian and Chin	nese
Curriculum?45	5
Canadian Curricula	5
Chinese Curricula	0
Finding 2: What curricula address citizenship within BCOS?	5
Finding 3: What motivates students to engage in citizenship education? 58	8
Finding 4: What barriers impact citizenship learning?	3
Chapter 5: Analysis67	7
Understanding the Differences of the West and East	7
Citizenship with Chinese Characteristics	9
The Development of Western Citizenship in BCOS in China	3
School Structure	6
Contributing Factors of Citizenship Development Engagement	8
Overarching Questions	0

How do BCOS participants' citizenship perspectives map onto Westheimer	&
Kahne's citizenship typologies?	82
Chapter 6: Conclusion and Recommendations	87
Key Findings	87
Discussion	89
Recommendations	91
Students	91
School	92
Ministry	93
Strengths and Limitations	94
Future Studies	94
Closing Remarks	95
Deferences	06

List of Appendices

A. Research Ethics Board Approval	105
B. Research Committee Information Letter	106
C. Administrators Information Letter	107
D. Recruitment Poster	108
E. Body of Emails for Administrators	109
F. Participants Information Letter	110
G. Consent Form for Potential Participants	112
H. Guiding Questions.	113

Chapter 1: Introduction

Further Research Justifications

Travelling for some individuals can provide benefits and shape one's perception of the world; for many, it is a life-changing experience. Some can blend in with the culture quite well, while others have difficulty adjusting. As a privileged white person, I grew up in Europe, was raised in Canada, and had the opportunity to coach football in many parts of the world. After my Bachelor of Education degree, I decided to work in China. Over the years, I held various roles as a physical educator, student union and athletic committee advisor, athletic director, head of the department, student support and educational coordinator, curriculum writer, and athletics cochair of the British Columbia Offshore Schools (BCOS). Throughout my experiences, I noticed many cultural differences between the West and East, having both worked and resided in both parts of the world as an educator. As a white, heterosexual, privileged, European male, I was able to gain an in-depth understanding of the cultural, social, curriculum, organizational, political, and other related phenomena.

As an English as a Second Language learner, I can empathize with students in similar situations. Growing up, I had many challenges learning about Westerners' customs and what being a good citizen entailed. Learning about the different perspectives of citizenship engagement sparked my curiosity and motivated me to explore citizenship perspectives in the East. From a young age, I was always curious to know what it meant to be a good person and how I could become an active participant in the process. As a child, I was fortunate to experience different cultures in Europe and then settle in Canada as a teenager. As a young adult, I was able to travel and observe different cultural norms. When I was an educator in China, I had a first-hand glance at the different citizenship perspectives that emerged when students attended BCOS, which prompted me to commence this research thesis and further analyze my findings in relation

to the existing literature. While research shows distinct differences between Chinese citizenship and the West, little research has been conducted on Mainland Chinese citizenship students in BCOS. The purpose of this phenomenological study was to investigate how students explore citizenship development and the related effects on their citizenship perceptions and participation in BCOS in Mainland China. This research was conducted over three months and explored the citizenship perspectives of five Chinese students enrolled at a BCOS in Mainland China.

The introductory chapter examines the existing Chinese educational model, the role of the BCOS, states my positionality on this research study, introduces the research questions and the participants' backgrounds. In addition, it also discusses the BCOS structure and clarifies common terminologies and definitions pertinent to citizenship.

Chapter Two reviews the literature as it relates to this research study and the researcher's questions. It conceptualizes citizenship between the West and East, outlines some of the policies that shaped modern China, and examines factors that contributed to the development of citizenship engagement. Chapter Three provides an overview of the data collection and analysis processes and discusses some of the researcher's biases and assumptions. Chapter Four discusses the findings from the students' perspective. Chapter Five analyses theoretical frameworks of citizenship education in the West and East and factors contributing to citizenship in BCOS. The last chapter summarizes the major findings and suggests ways to further strengthen future studies in citizenship.

Existing Chinese Education Model

The current Chinese education model structure is composed of six years of elementary, three years of middle school, and three years of high school. Yet only elementary and middle schools are mandatory for all students (Liu, 2018). After the expansion of university education in

11

1999, greater emphasis has been placed on students' preparation and acceptance into secondary education. The two-system high school was formed: ordinary and key-point schools (Ye, 2015). The key-point high schools generally received more funding and had top-quality facilities and educators. They are meant to build the pathway necessary for students to attend elite universities, which in turn leads to better social status. On the contrary, ordinary schools do not receive as much funding, students come from rural families, and are less likely to attend university. In Ye (2015), graduates from key-point high schools are 68.5% likely to attend tertiary education in comparison to ordinary schools, which are only 35.1%.

Over the past few decades, the new social order, as described below, has allowed parents to focus on their child(ren)'s education. Parents go above and beyond to get their children into the key-high senior schools. If the students struggle with any concepts, their parents enroll them in after-school programs (Wu, 2008). However, students' preferred school selection is limited because they are allowed to attend the schools in their district, which is determined by their hukou registration. The hukou registration system is responsible for verifying residence addresses. This policy has caused social imbalances—students from urban hukou are more likely to attend high school education than those of rural hukou. They are also exposed to more qualified teachers, and schools have more available resources at their hands. This disparity influences parents' perceptions of their child(ren)'s education and their educational pathways. In the past, parents had registered public toilets as their hukou address in hopes of getting their children into a good school. However, there is a more reliable way around the hukou registration policy; parents with available resources can buy property in urban areas near their preferred school. In addition, the College Entrance Exam, known as gao-kao, and the merit-based system make it challenging for some upper-class students to be successful and attain a high score (Liu,

2018), which creates a newly emerging market for high schools, specifically BCOS education, for wealthier families.

Upon completion of their Grade 9 compulsory year at the public school, students must complete the *Zhong Kao*—a major admission exam that determines their high school (Alexander, 2019). However, after their compulsory year, students are eligible to enroll in a BCOS program. BCOS has foundation English courses in addition to their Chinese courses to prepare students for the full Grade 10 BC program. While these courses are not mandatory and students do not earn any credits, it makes for a smoother transition.

British Columbia Offshore Schools in China

In the late 20th century, the Chinese government opened its market and adjusted its policies to reform education and other services to develop its economy (He, 2017; Liu, 2018). The trends of decentralization and marketization allowed foreign industries and companies to communicate and encouraged collaboration with the Chinese market. In 1995, the Chinese government introduced an Education Law that permitted non-public sectors to function as non-profit organizations. This direction prompted the BC Ministry of Education to partner with the Maple Leaf International School at Dalian and granted its first offshore school license to operate in China (Wang, 2017). In 2008, there were 12 independently certified schools in Mainland China and, as of 2020, there are 45 BCOS programs, of which 37 are located in Mainland China (Government of British Columbia, 2021; Schuetze et al., 2008). The private school market in Mainland China makes BCOS and other foreign schools one of the most valuable curricula for middle-class families (Alexander, 2019). Educators and staff "teach, assess, and evaluate the

public BC curriculum as well as confer the same BC high school diploma that domestic students in Canada earn" (Alexander, 2019, p. 2).

Traditional international schools and offshore schools are different in their ownership, student population, and governance (Schuetze et al., 2008; Wang, 2017). Furthermore, Bunnell, Fertig and James (2016) illustrate three typologies for international schools. Type A are the traditional schools, and their student population of international schools is composed mostly of expatriates holding a foreign passport. The schools are usually non-profit organizations, are parent cooperative, and run-on limited resources. Type B are ideological schools with the focus on educating students for global peace, and there are relatively few that exist. Their curriculum seeks to provide international perspectives, for example, the International Baccalaureate. Lastly, type C international schools are privately owned and are composed mostly of local citizens, with a few exceptions. Some examples of these schools are the Global Education Management Systems based in Dubai and BCOS (Alexander, 2019; Bunnell et al., 2016). Schuetze et al. (2008) believe the BCOS curriculum, specifically in Mainland China, acts as a hybrid that must offer part of their curriculum instruction in Mandarin and is taught by Chinese-certified teachers.

According to Wang (2017), the student population in BC programs is over 20,000 and is expected to have an upward projection. However, current enrollments in the BC programs across China have dropped to just over 10,000 students (Government of British Columbia, 2021). While there has been an increase in international students compared to previous years in Canada from 2010 to 2020, there has been a reported 17% decrease of international students from previous years. The majority of the students arriving in Canada come from India or China, with 68% settling in Ontario or British Columbia (Canadian Bureau for International Education, 2021). Traditional international schools focus on students of expatriates, whereas offshore schools serve

local citizens, are for-profit, and deliver a Canadian curriculum with mandatory Chinese classes (Wang, 2017). However, over the years, the BC programs have been continuously criticized for being culturally based on the students that are raised in the West, and as such, the curriculum does not reflect the cultural differences and values of students in China (Alexander, 2019; Steffenhagen, 2013).

Research Purpose and Questions

While the student population was expected to increase in BCOS, current enrollments have dropped significantly. The BC programs were continuously criticized for being culturally based on students in the West, and its curriculum did not reflect the values of students in the East. The purpose of this research study was to investigate citizenship development and the related effects on their citizenship perceptions and participation in BCOS in Mainland China. The following research study explored citizenship perspectives of Grade 11 and 12 Chinese students attending BCOS. A phenomenological research design was utilized to investigate the deeper meaning of participants' perspectives of citizenship. Participants were recruited through convenience sampling and interviewed at their preferred location. This study was guided by the following research questions:

- 1. What are the perceived differences between Canadian and Chinese curricula?
- 2. What curricula address citizenship within BCOS?
 - a. What motivates students to engage in citizenship education?
 - b. What barriers impact citizenship learning?
- 3. How do BCOS participants' citizenship perspectives map onto Westheimer and Kahne's (2004) citizenship typologies?

Chapter 2: Literature Review

The purpose of the literature review is to provide a contextual and historical background of citizenship development along with findings from the early 20th century to current issues and trends. In the first section, I explore notions of citizenship with global and Chinese features. In the second section, I review and discuss various theoretical models of global citizenship. In the third section, I further explore definitions and theoretical approaches of the Confucianism ideologies and their contributions to society. In the fourth section, I dig deeper into the historical developments of policies in China from the early 20th century to the present. In the last section, I focus on discussing various approaches towards citizenship engagement from local and international schools in China.

Notions of Citizenship

The term citizenship has many definitions and interpretations, and its contents are the direct response to the needs of the modern workforce. According to Osiadacz (2018), the earliest version of "citizen" was found in the Bible, where Paul describes himself as a citizen of Taurus, a city in Turkey. In *The Republic of Plato*, a good citizen is a self-disciplined individual, and the extent to which they apply the societal rules is dependent on their superiors. "The desires of the less respectable majority are controlled by the desires and the wisdom of the superior minority" (Lee, 2003, p. 135). Conversely, Marshall (1964) describes citizenship as a mixture of sociopolitical and civil elements, with the addition of cultural and group rights. When minority groups are assimilated into the pluralistic society, their group attachments will eventually diminish and die and pave the way for unity. Understanding global citizenship, however, may be difficult due to the synonymous names associated with it and the challenge of agreeing on what its definition encompasses. Confusion arises from the multitude of perspectives obtained by

various disciplines. Different definitions will provide a variety of outcomes. For example, philosophical interpretations focus on moral values and education about global awareness (Reysen & Katzarska-Miller, 2013).

When one explores citizenship ideologies and concepts, particularly in China, governments have constantly focused on shifting their attention towards fostering multiple identities that require transferring citizenship education from community to a multileveled dimension: self, local, national, and global (Pan, 2011). These theories continue to expand on the idea of national citizenship and suggest that further growth and diversity are required in citizenship education. This can be achieved by providing the skills, knowledge, and values required to function in a multileveled polity (Law & Ng, 2009). However, most studies fail to explain the complexities within and between the different levels. For example, Law and Ng (2009) explored perspectives of students on multilevel citizenship between Shanghai and Hong Kong and found distinct differences in the implementation of citizenship education. Hong Kong students were taught to build global awareness, and Shanghai students focused on national history. The findings indicated that Shanghai students were more open to learning about cultures, whereas Hong Kong students were not concerned with global events and "promoting peace in the world" (Law & Ng, 2009, p. 878).

An earlier approach to citizenship is tackled by Westheimer and Kahne (2004). They propose that citizenship and civic education are about "what good citizenship is and what good citizens do" (Westheimer & Kahne, 2004, p. 3). In their two-year study, they drew from the qualitative and quantitative resources from ten different citizenship programs and later narrowed their focus on two of the programs. They derived three conceptions that can strengthen a good

society: (1) the *Personally-responsible* citizen, (2) the *Participatory* citizen, and (3) the *Justice-oriented* citizen.

Personally-responsible citizens are responsible and maintain integrity, honesty, self-discipline, and obedience. Typically, they focus on personal and individual work by paying their taxes, recycling, donating blood, following the laws, and supporting those in need by contributing to charitable organizations. Participatory citizens actively engage in the community and within their social groups. They value active participation and partake in leadership initiatives in the community. They generally understand the government, know how to run meetings, and are found organizing charitable events. The last and least common is Justice-oriented citizens. They critically assess the status quo, challenge political ideologies, and explore ideas to bring about change in society for vulnerable citizens. If Participatory citizens organize food drives, then Justice-oriented citizens are likely to examine the roots of hunger. Encouraging Personally-responsible citizens (i.e., aim to maintain loyalty and obedience), however, can conflict with the development and actions of Justice-oriented citizens.

Concerning the topic of Chinese citizenship, Leung et al.'s (2014) study in Hong Kong suggested a fourth conception into Westheimer and Kahne's (2004) typology called *Patriotic* citizenship. They argue that in a democratic and a totalitarian state, the meaning of patriotic citizenship is interpreted differently. In a democratic system, the citizens are loyal to different groups: schools, clubs, communities, churches. Alternatively, in a totalitarian state, "the government attempts to destroy all intermediate forms of loyalties so that the individual loyalty is in the hands of the state" (Leung et al., 2014, p. 20). To gain a deeper understanding, in the following sections, I will examine the differences between definitions of the "West" and "East,"

the history of citizenship policies, and students' perspectives on citizenship. The four typologies will guide the present research study.

Conceptions of "Global" Citizenship

Citizenship is further complicated by an increasing focus on the "global" as a sphere of citizenship, supplanting the traditional "national" focus of many years (Goren & Yemini, 2017). As the world is becoming more connected, it is undergoing many global and local changes. Citizens of various countries can now travel conveniently and explore cultures, nations, and opportunities to develop their global identities and perspectives (Reysen & Katzarska-Miller, 2013). These changes, however, have consequences. Political, social, national, and religious fragments constantly pose threats and challenges towards a collaborative and unified civilization (Tidikis & Dunbar, 2019). Policies that used to focus on bounded communities and on creating functional members in the community are being dismantled by globalization.

To better prepare students to meet such global trends, many nations have started to adjust curricular contents via targeting and strengthening their global citizenship education. The education systems act as the medium of enabling citizens to both nurture and develop their skills to become active members of society (McCowan, 2009). Advocates of global citizenship education suggest this overrides patriotic citizenship and focuses on the greater good of humanity. Social prejudices and local divisions will be suppressed, and humanity will be a common theme and interest among all citizens (Niens & Reilly, 2012).

While global citizenship brings interconnectivity and promotes sharing and respecting cultures, Niens and Reilly (2012) suggest it is not practical nor desirable. If citizenship requires people living in a space, abiding by the rules and laws of a governed body, then who governs global citizens? Who keeps them accountable for their actions? Since the inception of the United Nations in 1945, its focus has been on helping the poor and vulnerable, but recent events brought

forward by Mothers of Srebrenica and Haiti Cholera victims have raised questions. According to Rashkow (2014), the UN has been consistently accused of wrongdoing and hides bad publicity to maintain its good citizenship status. Furthermore, Niens and Reilly (2012) questioned global citizenship's universality, claiming it is focused mostly on Western interests and not challenging global interests (global environment, social issues, and human values). Teachers have also expressed concerns over the resources provided to them, "feeling ill-prepared to address controversial issues" and "worrying about global stereotypes that may pave the way to further divisions" (Niens & Reilly, 2012, p. 115).

Oxley and Morris's (2013) typology further highlights differences and commonalities among various conceptions of global citizenship. They identified eight conceptions and grouped them into two types: the cosmopolitan and the alternative. A visual representation is presented in Table 1. The cosmopolitan types focus on social organization, which includes the economic, moral, cultural, and political approaches to global citizenship. The alternative, also known as advocacy types, tend to focus on a multitude of perspectives, namely the social, critical, environmental, and spiritual. The political conception focuses on the relationships between the state and the individual. Moral conception examines human rights and ethics. The economic conception explores ways to develop internationally, and the cultural concentration focuses on items that bring citizens together (e.g., language, art, etc.). On the other hand, the social conception focuses on civil society, whereas the critical conception examines societal challenges. The environmental conception raises awareness for global sustainability, and the spiritual conception focuses on the connections between citizens (e.g., love, emotions, etc.). While the typology might appear comprehensive, McCowan (2009) believes that there are many challenges and unpredictable outcomes that accompany the implementation of any type of citizenship

program and that "there are serious doubts about our ability to measure the programs' 'success' in a way that encompasses the diverse facets of citizenship" (p. 19).

Table 1

Global citizenship typologies

Citizenship Conceptions	Cosmopolitan	Alternative (Advocacy)
Types of Citizenship	Political	Social
	Moral	Critical
	Economic	Environmental
	Cultural	Spiritual

Chinese Features of Citizenship

When one thinks of the East and West, China is often portrayed as collectivist and the West as individualistic. Tu (2011) argues that there is not just one system that fits all, and it is important to acknowledge alternative ideologies. While the West thinks of themselves as patriots and everyone else is a nationalist, Bislev and Li (2004) argue that these terms have different connotations in Chinese. Patriotic citizenship in a Chinese context is understood as *aiguo zhuyi*, loosely translated as "love-country-ism," whereas nationalism is *minzu zhuyi* and is defined as "nation-ism or ethnic-group-ism" and is rarely mentioned when describing China (Bislev & Li, 2004, p. 25). The Chinese definition of *minzu zhuyi* (nationalism) can be interpreted as being synonymous with ethnic nationalism in the West; this is different from nationalism—described as a "nation-state" (Bislev & Li, 2004, p. 25). Modern nationalism in China is frequently described in terms of patriotic citizenship, and its meanings are deeply rooted in historical contexts. According to He (2017), China, as we know it today, has been composed of the Han

dynasty, accounting for 92% of the total population. The remaining 8% are made up of the remaining 55 non-Han ethnic groups. Some of the larger minority groups have the ability to be labelled as nations: Tibetan and Mongolian. While many of the founders of the People's Republic of China came from the Han dynasty, they quickly came to realize the importance of avoiding any challenges that may arise from nationalism *minzu zhuyi* or ethnic nationalism and focused on creating cohesive and united citizens. The harmony between the states not only flourished and contributed to the success of the nation, but it also promoted collaboration and the creation of the "market-based economy" (He, 2017, p. 4). The market allowed citizens to share and exchange resources and human power based on the market supply and demands.

When we discuss the idea of citizenship, it is important to understand that there are several Chinese words rather than a single word that directly translates into English. Jakimów (2012), describes the three most important citizenship words: "gongmin (public people), shimin (city people) and guomin (people of the state)" (p. 663). The term min means the people, and its origins date back to the Confucianism era, which promoted the idea of creating a harmonious society instead of individual rights. These ideas were similar during the ruling of dynasties. The relationship of the emperor and its citizens was perceived as an extension of the parent-child relationship, and this is a strategy still enforced in China to maintain a harmonious relationship between its citizens and the country.

Wang (2015) believes Confucianism "cannot contribute to developing ideas of liberal citizenship" (p. 1) and further divides Confucianism into illiberal/liberal and relates it to thin and thick citizenship. Thin citizenship focused on the individual's rights protection against the state. In contrast, thick citizenship focused on the individuals' responsibilities to participate and support the community. Liberal Confucianism promotes human rights, whereas illiberal

Confucianism sees itself as obligation-oriented and does not focus on the individual. However, Wang (2018) suggests Confucianism could act as a means of maintaining harmony within the evolving markets by embracing the virtues of Confucianism ideologies known as *junzi* (君子). The teachings promote selfhood by becoming reflexive, relational, and dynamic. Its teachings foster an appreciation of differences and understanding of others' worldviews. These ideologies might be highly controversial in the West, yet the West and East could learn to collaborate harmoniously from Confucianism ideologies. Tan (2020) believes "Confucian citizenship education debunks the perception that Confucius and Confucianism necessarily promote authoritarian leadership" (p. 10). Furthermore, Confucius promoted active citizenship and guided his disciples to create policies for the greater good when in a leadership role. While the perception of China and Confucianism is often associated with absolute authority, Elstein's (2009) analysis of *The Analects* book reveals the opposite. Confucian disciples might appear as subordinates and obedient, yet there is no such evidence in the text. Confucius may hold more knowledge, but he is a human and has imperfections. The disciples may not hold his knowledge, but are seen as equals, are engaged in discussions, and allow for everyone to learn and improve their knowledge over time.

According to Tan and Chew's (2008) interpretations, some Confucian practices are starting to emerge in Singapore's new Character Citizenship Education (CCE) to unite its diverse citizens, Chinese, Malay, Indians, and others. They include harmony to promote social cohesion and advocacy of values by focusing on the relationships and roles of family and community. In Confucianism hierarchies, the self is discussed in the context of social interaction and one's ability to follow the cultural norms of "etiquette, protocol, and convention" (Gow, 2017, p. 105). According to Fei et al. (1992), these interactions are in line with the Differential Mode of

Association. It is a social network that links citizens' moral values in different places through clear standards. The relationship can determine how citizens should act, their status level, their roles and responsibilities, their relative status to others, how others should interact with them, and others' roles and responsibilities towards them. Thus, the development of citizenship is considered not to be inherent but rather is developed. Confucian ideologies and practices have also made significant contributions to the Chinese core socialist values. The core socialist values are divided into national, societal, and citizens. At the citizen level, it includes patriotic citizenship, dedication, integrity, and geniality; at the societal level is freedom, justice, equality, and the rule of law; at the national level are prosperity, democracy, civility, and harmony. These values are considered to be stronger together than when viewed independently. By understanding the citizens' characteristics, the Chinese Communist Party integrated common-sense beliefs from Confucianism into their platform to further expand their values in society. The Chinese Communist Party examined Confucian virtues and actions and connected them to core socialist values. Three of the core socialist values of citizens are directly related to the Confucian virtues of friendship, honesty, and respect; however, additional advertising campaigns of core values were presented in posters around the country.

Chinese Citizenship Policies

1904 - 1978

Citizenship education has been continually debated, especially in China. In Liu's (2011) review, since the Qing government in 1904, the aims of good citizenship were addressed by radical and conservative forms. Citizens needed to respect the public, maintain loyalty to the emperor, and read the book *Guomin bidu*. Civic education took the form of moral cultivation and was taught alongside Confucian classes. This lasted until 1912 when Imperial China came to an

end, and the Republic of China's first minister started to focus on creating modern citizens. Confucian and Western approaches started to emerge, and textbooks were moving away from Confucianism. In 1917, the word Guoming body was replaced with Gongming body summarizing the shift from Imperialism to the Republic, focusing on despotism, monarchy, and republicanism. By 1922, the word moral education was replaced with citizenship education. Their moral education was expanded and started to include personal development into the program, "local self-government, industrial labor, poverty, gender inequality" (Liu, 2011, p. 446). A major shift was undertaken in 1928-29, under the Nationalist Party, led by Chiang Kaishek. They revised civics classes and organized them by "Sun Yat-sen's Three Principles of the People" (Liu, 2011, p. 446). The left-wing ideologies were forced to go underground. Over the next decade, the Nationalist civic education became similar to youth training camps of fascist governments. They focused on cleanliness, fitness, loyalty, and creating routine practices. Citizenship emphasized the collective rather than the individualistic. The notion of citizenship development took another hit during the Anti-Japanese War and the Domestic War that followed in 1946 (Zhang & Fagan, 2016). In 1949, the Nationalist Party was overthrown, and the establishment of the People's Republic of China emerged. It was regarded as a socialist government with one party to its citizenship education (Tu, 2011). The political ideologies were structured based on Marxist-Leninism ideologies, Maoism, and anti-American imperialism (Tu, 2011; Zhong & Lee, 2008). The value of citizenship education acted as a national goal by propagating ideologies of "collectivism, patriotism, nationalism and self-sacrifice" (Zhong & Lee, 2008, p. 63). However, Zhang and Fagan (2016) believe that due to the reintroduction of low wages and capitalism during Mao's era, the common people did not understand the

Communist Party's meaning of civic engagement and participation. Citizens' individual rights were viewed "as poisons to the socialist highest goal of mass mobilization" (p. 122).

1978 – Present

In 1978, the Chinese government decided to create an Open-Door policy for its market. Citizens could exchange goods and resources with other provinces based on economic demands. It subsequently stimulated a citizenship curriculum reform. It reintroduced the concept of economic development as a nation and the abolishment of the proletariat. By 1985, the government released curriculum documents on "Moral Education and Political Theories" to strengthen the socialist cause and open the discussion on class and social issues among university students. While there was strong opposition towards adopting a modern citizen, in 1991, the government introduced the "Outline of Moral Education in Secondary Schools" (Zhong & Lee, 2008, p. 64). It advocated the teaching of socialism and collectivism, students' attitudes and behaviours, and motivational approaches. In 1996, the government wanted to not only teach young citizens but also adults. The Tiananmen Square political event on June 4, 1989, where university students asked for personal rights and more engagement with social development, was viewed as a failure by the Chinese government. Thus, they also introduced the two-class policies that summarized Marxist Theory and are still utilized today (Zhang & Fagan, 2016). They also started to focus on "individual growth rather than the ideopolitical socialization" (Zhong & Lee, 2008, p. 65). Ideopolitical socialization referred to "the cultivation of ideomoral quality (sixiang daode xiuyang)," which ensured teachers taught life philosophies and ideologies aligned with the

socialist ideologies and nurtured communist values in students (as cited in Zhong & Lee, 2008, p. 64).

Since the Open-Door policy in 1978, China has worked on modernizing and adopting its policy to address the needs of its citizens. The 2001 Report by the Premier of the State Council addressed the importance of "promoting spiritual civilization, improving democracy and the legal system, and strengthening national defence" (Zhong & Lee, 2008, p. 67). They revised the 1996 curriculum and implemented courses for democracy and character education (Shimbo, 2009). They focused on developing their understanding of the law and democracy, and individual psychological health. Additionally, there was an effort to help develop students' understanding of the law, China's constitution, and how to maintain public order. Democracy refers to the students' understanding of the Chinese election system (i.e., its role and functions) and negotiated democracy, which focuses on the transition from the authoritarian government towards a democratic system. Furthermore, in 2002, the government released guidelines and content on mental health education with the aims of developing students' character, optimism, and adaptation skills (Zhong & Lee, 2008).

After a comprehensive national survey in 2006, the government introduced the "Consensus on Citizenship Education" to teach students at all levels (Pan, 2011). Their objectives highlighted the importance of developing local and national knowledge, world civilization, and international affairs. While citizenship education remained consistent through the grades, their focus adjusted according to each grade. For example, Grade 7 focused on personal growth, Grade 8 on the relationship between the different levels of government, and Grade 9 on national citizenship. The government has frequently suggested Chinese citizenship is a mixture of principles from "socialism with Chinese cultural traditions" (Pan, 2011, p. 287).

Zhang and Fagan (2016) believe that despite the many adjustments in the latest 2012 proposal, with a shift from loyalty to social responsibility and involvement in public affairs, their practices did not change much and continue to focus on "socialism, collectivism and patriotism" (p. 123).

Most recently, the Chinese Communist Party, under the leadership of Xi Jinping, developed a series of core socialist values in hopes of attaining the Chinese Dream. It promoted a secure social order, shared common beliefs, economic development, and consensus among its population, not just in China but also abroad. Shortly after Xi gained power, he introduced two goals. The first focused on developing a prosperous nation, and the second on establishing the core values of "prosperity, democracy, civility, and harmony" by 2049 (Gow, 2017, p. 106). The core socialist values were designed in conjunction with the Confucian moral superiority by focusing on self-cultivation. It demanded citizens to self-regulate their emotions in public and be disciplined. The campaign aimed to increase the government's intervention in education, media, religion, and other organizations. These goals foster positivity and unity across the nation, but no one can predict for certain the accomplishment of such goals, especially after the retirement of Xi Jinping. Most importantly, his success is also likely to impact international and BCOS educational citizenship programs that aim to develop engaged citizens rather than knowledge transition and following authority (Ye, 2019).

Citizenship Engagement

Canadian Curriculum and Engagement Factors

Citizenship curriculum varies across continent, country, provincial, and city levels.

However, when we observe the Canadian curriculum at the government level, there are a set of policies and programs set in stone to ensure citizens can develop their citizenship. According to Immigration, Refugees and Citizenship Canada (2021), citizens are recommended to participate

in the community, vote during elections, volunteer in charitable organizations, protect the environment, help neighbours, engage in current and meaningful conversations, respect neighbours, and welcome new citizens. For new Canadians, it provides free access to parks, museums, and other locations to help them explore the culture. A list of volunteer opportunities is also posted on the website to get them started in the community.

At the provincial level, the BC Ministry of Education is responsible for educating students to be good citizens. The BC Ministry of Education (2018) focuses on intellectual, human, social, and career development. Those goals are to be accomplished through quality teaching, leadership, student-centred education, a healthy learning environment, a future-oriented approach, and measurable outcomes. Teachers will engage in collaboration to incorporate technology and experiential learning in the classroom. Students will be surrounded by an inclusive environment that promotes flexibility and freedom of choice. The curriculum will prepare students to become lifelong learners and guide them to develop 21st-century employment skills. Best practices are encouraged to meet the learning goals and provide constructive feedback to all students. Students will also be surrounded by a safe learning space where they can learn how to be physically active and make healthy choices. Souza and Damaceno (2017) also believed that the integration of arts and science further develops citizenship perspectives. The arts aim at building students' subjectivity and science provides students with objective skills. The integration of science and arts creates a dynamic and flexible language that all citizens can understand.

In theory, it all sounds great, yet various factors affect the engagement level of the students with the curriculum. Research-based on the International Association for the Evaluation of Educational Achievement, the research team led by Torney-Purta et al. (1999) analyzed the

civic citizenship engagement in multiple nations. They explored students from ages 10-14 and developed the octagonal model. The model was constructed based on the ideas of contemporary psychologist Bronfenbrenner and the cognition theory of Lave and Wanger (1991). The model placed the individual at the centre and society at the outer layer. At the individual level, students are influenced by face-to-face interactions with various social groups, such as family members, the school, peer groups, and neighbours. The outer layer was constructed by Bronfenbrenner's macrosystem—it accounted for institutions, economic, religious beliefs, and education structure. Hofferth and Sandberg (2001) believed the higher the education level of the parents, the more likely they were to engage with the community and outside of their home or school. Thus, they were more likely to participate in sports, engage in charitable events and go to family events.

Gilligan (1982) believes gender plays a significant role in the type of citizens we develop. Daughters are more likely to experience a relationship with their mothers and develop more empathetic values. In contrast, mothers are less likely to connect with their sons, indirectly pushing boys to explore their masculinity and develop their independent skills. Recent feminist movements have focused on bringing equality to these views and challenging the assimilation of male dominance (Lombardo & Verloo, 2009). However, the development of equal rights can be challenging to achieve when individual voices are not promoted in society (Woodman, 2012). Other researchers have also highlighted the importance that extracurricular activities, gamification, and school culture play in the development of civic engagement (Saha, 2000; Spitz et al., 2018). Traditional citizenship development has focused on active engagement, gamification, and digital citizenship, especially in the last decade, and this has sparked the attention of many scholars. Gamification is defined as "the use of game design elements in nongame contexts" (Deterding et al., 2011, p. 10). Bourgonjon and Soetaert (2013) believe that

when games are effectively designed, they can bring out elements of active citizenship. Complex tasks such as science projects and the integration of technology have been shown to effectively contribute towards citizenship among the new generation (Spitz et al., 2018). Society has now evolved from industrial to informational and has provoked companies and governments to become more creative when thinking of ways to engage with the younger generation in a digital world. A study by Splitz et al. (2018) utilized concepts of *Pokémon Go* that required the participants to go on a scavenger hunt and created an app with similar features to increase civic engagement towards healthy eating. At the end of the study, participants' awareness had increased, and some changed their behaviour towards certain food consumption. Additionally, a study by Weaver and Lewis (2012) found participants engaged in the game *Fallout 3* made frequent moral decisions in the game as if in real life. Lastly, Bourgonjon and Soetaert (2013) believe video games fulfill similar functions as a theatre and can expose participants to various cultural ideas while participating in ongoing debate practices.

Chinese Citizenship Engagement

Research by Watkins and Biggs (1996) suggested that they are two paradoxes of Chinese learners. Firstly, Chinese students are not exposed to the same standards of education as in the West, such as classroom environment and sizes, yet they appear to outperform the West in mathematics and science. Secondly, they are usually described as passive learners, yet they show high levels of understanding. Passive learners could be attributed to the teaching approach rather than being a different type of learner (Lee, 2009). Chinese teachers play an authoritative role in students' learning process and are viewed as the main holders of knowledge (Wen & Clément, 2003). Students are expected to submit to authority. However, that limits their ability to interact with others and the teacher. The English language is something new to the Chinese learners and taking risks may lead them to lose face if they cannot communicate well. Losing face stems from

the Confucianism ideologies of the self and refers to the fact that individuals should be aware of how to conduct themselves with others. Students are taught from a very young age to self-regulate their behaviour and to avoid any disapproval in public. As such, students are not aware of their citizenship education in China (Ye, 2019). The Chinese government's approach incorporates core competencies into citizenship education by shifting towards "knowledge transmission rather than the cultivation of civic behavior" (Ye, 2019, p. 518).

Tu (2011) explored perspectives of university students in civic participation and found that participation in civic engagement can take many forms and shapes depending on the intended outcome of the program. The study took into consideration their backgrounds, university education, discipline, and gender. An overwhelming amount of data in the study highlighted students' love for China. Students were also more likely to participate in civic activities for personal gains, or they were simply following others blindly. This does not come as a surprise considering China's *Patriotic* curriculum education in the past. Civic engagement in the study covers a range of activities, and almost half of them participated in activities, and the other half were faced with leadership, financial, and recruitment challenges. Many students were also concerned with the social injustices, women's rights, social class, and education access. Zhang (2015) further examined students' views and found that students believed if the government was good, there was no need for a democratic system. These beliefs were attributed to economic development, human rights, and the efficiency of the projects within the country. One participant stated: "democracy needs an economic foundation. How we can talk about democracy if 1.4 billion people live in hunger?" (Zhang, 2015, p. 222). According to Ye (2018), systems like the hukou allowed the government to maintain a disparity between its peasants and urban privileges. Peasants were primarily kept in the countryside and were not involved at all

with urban economics. However, with ongoing strategic developments from the government, the socioeconomic inequalities have been shrinking over the years, and students can gain greater access to education.

Leung et al. (2014) investigated 51 secondary school students' (ages 13-16) in Hong Kong. They examined their perspectives on the school's support methodologies in regard to promoting a good citizen, the types of activities organized, and policies implemented. They found students felt it was important that their schools taught them how to be good citizens and to become active participants by engaging in activities. Yet, the schools' implementation strategies and organized activities were not methodically organized. Implementation strategies included specific units specialized towards citizenship and their organized activities (i.e., engagements in clubs, extracurriculars, and classes). One of their significant findings suggested that *Personally*responsible citizenship was the most important type of citizenship, followed by Justice-oriented, Participatory, and then Patriotic. It was interesting to note that students viewed Justice-oriented citizenship as being more important than *Patriotic* given the government's curriculum designs in the past. However, that may not necessarily be true, as Hong Kong holds different perspectives with citizens from Mainland China. Hong Kong aligns itself with a capitalistic system, and Mainland China supports a social system. The two systems can coexist within the Chinese political framework of "One Country, Two systems" and function autonomously (Leung et al., 2014, p. 22).

Chapter 3: Methodology

Methodological Choice

The methodology of this study is a qualitative research approach and is described by Creswell and Creswell (2017) as:

An approach for exploring and understanding the meaning individuals or groups ascribe to a social or human problem. The process of research involves emerging questions and procedures, data typically collected in the participant's setting, data analysis inductively building from particulars to generate themes, and the researcher making interpretations of the meaning of data... a focus on individual meaning, and the importance of reporting the complexity of a situation. (p. 4)

This approach allows the faculty, the researcher, and the audience to better interpret the issues in the study. The researcher focused on collecting data in a natural setting when gathering the participants' experiences to formulate a deeper meaning, which helped to "develop a complex picture of the problem or issue under study" (Creswell & Creswell, 2017, p. 182). While quantitative research uses data to analyze the questions at hand, qualitative research focuses on analyzing the situation through words and providing a deeper understanding of the question being investigated (Clarke & Braun, 2013). Qualitative research is very descriptive and utilizes words and pictures rather than numbers to convey its message. Other forms of data collection include field notes, participant interviews, documents, or a combination of them. Most importantly, "The researcher is the primary instrument for data collection and analysis" (Merriam & Tisdell, 2016, p.16). Qualitative research allows the researcher to be responsive and adaptive to collect and analyze the data to gain a deep understanding of participants' responses and build concepts. The researcher follows an inductive process, maintains a questioning stance, is a meticulous observer, has a high tolerance for unknown variables, asks relevant questions,

and is comfortable with writing. It also allows the researcher to have a more purposeful and non-random sample selection by targeting a specific population.

Research Design

A qualitative research approach was selected to explore the descriptions of participants' citizenship perspectives while engaged as active participants in school activities. The aim of this study focused not only on exploring participants' experiences and how they transform into consciousness but also "understand(ing) or comprehend(ing) meanings of human experience as it is lived" (Polkinghorne, as cited in Laverty, 2003, p. 22). Essentially, it was inspired by phenomenological research in which structurally describes, dissects, and interprets the experiences of people in their life (Merriam & Tisdell, 2016). More "often these studies are of intense human experiences such as love, anger, betrayal, and so on" (Merriam & Tisdell, 2016, p. 26). Having lived in China, it provided the researcher with a certain understanding of the Chinese students' experiences. To fully examine the topic of interest, the researcher had to explore his own biases and learn how to put them aside in hopes of providing a more in-depth analysis of the data. This approach allowed the researcher to investigate questions that may not be written in public records or discussed in Chinese schools. Therefore, it allowed the researchers to gain a holistic picture while considering the multiple viewpoints of the Canadian Offshore Schools' citizenship education and what constitutes a good citizen. To fully understand citizenship perspectives from BCOS students, in-depth semi-structured Zoom interviews were conducted with Grade 11 and 12 students to investigate any possible gaps in the literature.

Participant Selection and Recruitment

Convenience sampling was used to recruit participants. According to Merriam and Tisdell (2016), "selection made on this basis alone is not very credible" and may not provide rich

information (p. 98). However, for the purpose of this study, I was interested in targeted populations at specific locations that were also accessible during the COVID-19 pandemic. While the information may not be generalized to other populations, it may offer new emerging trends in the field. Participants were drawn from students in Grades 11 and 12 who attended BCOS in Mainland China. Even though participants came from two grades, the BCOS programs only offered Grades 10 to 12. Participants were required to be leaders within the school environment, including but not limited to athletics captains, student union members, and student-initiated clubs. Participants were Chinese citizens and had good communication skills in English. Before the commencement of the study, the plan was reviewed for its adherence to ethical guidelines and approved by the research ethics board at Lakehead University (see Appendix A).

The researcher contacted potential superintendents to obtain approval and conduct the research with their student population. In the letter, the researcher included the research purpose, recruitment procedure, privacy, and contact information (refer to Appendix B for a copy of the letter). In doing so, it informed and provided superintendents with an opportunity to review the research and determine if it was appropriate for their student population. Upon receiving confirmation to conduct the research study from the superintendents, the researcher further sent an information letter to school administrators informing them of the study (see Appendix C). The information letter contained all the responsibilities of the school administrator and their role in the study. The administrator was responsible for sending recruitment posters to their students via email. The recruitment poster and email of the body can be found in Appendix D and E. The researcher obtained permission from administrators before approaching and speaking with the students. Participants expressed interest in engaging in the study by responding to the email address provided on the poster. Those students then received, via email, a potential participant

Appendix F and G). Participants could indicate their interest by emailing or calling the researcher. The researcher utilized the Automated Readability Index to accommodate English-as -a-second-language students by simplifying the reading level of the texts to that of Grade 7 (WebFX, 2021). Participants and their legal guardian(s) were required to sign the consent form and to email it to the researcher to ensure they understood the research process and their rights as a participant before the commencement of the Zoom interviews. The consent form outlined that subjects can drop out at any given time, do not have to answer any questions if they are uncomfortable, and that they are giving knowledgeable legal consent for their participation in this research study. If participants felt any stress throughout the study, they could seek the support of the nearest psychologist or call the hotline service provided to them in the Information Letter (a suggestion to call 12345 hotline).

Data Collection

Upon completion of the ethics consent forms, the participant received the interview questions via email (see Appendix H). The researcher communicated with the administrators and participants to establish the most convenient time to conduct the Zoom audio recording interview only, without causing any disruptions to the participants' learning and the school schedule. A quiet and private room was established during breaks in the school schedule to allow the participants to express their opinions freely. The data was collected using one-on-one semi-structured interviews following a general interview guideline (Merriam & Tisdell, 2016). Semi-structured interview questions are "less structured formats assume that individual respondents define the world in unique ways" (Merriam & Tisdell, 2016, p. 110). Additionally, open-ended interview-guided questions allowed "the researcher to respond to the situation at hand" and were

constructed based on Leung et al.'s (2014) research instrumentation and the collaboration of the faculty advisor's recommendations (Merriam & Tisdell, 2016, p. 111).

Interviews were estimated to be approximately 40 minutes; however, additional time was permitted if participants needed more time to express their opinions. All steps were taken to ensure the confidentiality and anonymity of the BCOS participants in this study. Our Zoom meetings required a password to provide a layer of privacy. However, given the possibility that third-party agents, the Chinese government, and other technologically proficient individuals may have had the skills to monitor our interviews, it was not possible to guarantee full confidentiality and anonymity. Specific school names and locations were not identified nor published in the study. Participant anonymity was used throughout this research study by assigning each individual a pseudonym. The computer containing the participants' data was also password-protected to ensure the information was not accessed by an external party. The research student asked participants research questions individually to ensure anonymity within and outside of the study. If participants had any further questions about their confidentiality, they could contact the researcher freely. Participants had the right to withdraw from the study at any time.

Data Analysis

All the interviews were verbatim transcribed with the assistance of online software Trint. For the first transcription process, the researcher uploaded the audio on Trint to distinguish the speakers and correct any transcription errors that might occur by the software during the transcription process. Due to English language comprehension challenges and grammatical errors, repeated words were removed to facilitate the researcher's understanding of the responses while maintaining the authenticity of the interviews. The researcher also numbered each line on Microsoft Word and analyzed the documents with the assistance of ATLAS.ti. The study

followed the step-by-step guidelines and recommendations of Merriam and Tisdell (2016); however, it incorporated mainly the works of Löfgren (2013) because it was simple to understand and could be easily carried throughout the data analysis. Transcription and coding were conducted in a six-step process. The researcher browsed through the transcriptions, made labels and codes, created categories/themes, labelled and decided which codes, themes/themes are the most important, organized the findings, and wrote the final findings.

The analysis process began in sequential order from the first to the last conducted interview. The online software Trint was utilized to transcribe the documents and convert them into a document format. Before coding, each participant's audio recording was listened to at least twice, and initial codes and labels were made. The documents were then uploaded on Atlas.ti to be coded and observed for themes.

Researcher Bias and Assumptions

The researcher was an employee of the BCOS, and participants were specifically chosen and recruited only from other school system populations. While the researcher was wearing a different hat, he might have had previous interactions with the students within the study. Participants' perception, citizenship-specific terminologies, and definitions might have altered their perspectives on the topic of interest, and hence the researcher chose to recruit participants from other schools to mitigate power inequalities and labelling. In the researcher's opinion, there were no other conflicts during the research process.

Participants' Profiles

The next section focuses on descriptions of the participants' age, school interests, personal views, background, and the factors that contributed to their enrollment in BC schools to better understand the context and environment of the participants. Since most students are under

the guidance of their parents and reside in China, their names have been replaced with pseudonyms. Additionally, the schools' names have been numbered to avoid any possible recognition of their identities. All participants were enrolled for the first time in a fully integrated English program in Grade 10 at a BC school, live in boarding schools, and aspire to attain an international postsecondary education abroad. Participants' background information is summarized in Table 2.

Table 2

Participants General Background Information

Participant	School	Grade	Age	Gender	School Engagement
Bob	BC School 1	12	19	Male	Student Union, Public Speaking,
					Tutoring, and Athletics
Candy	BC School 1	12	17	Female	Rubik's Cube, Library Volunteer, and
					Student Union
Eris	BC School 2	12	19	Male	Student Union, Floor Hockey, and
					Computer Programming
Flora	BC School 2	12	17	Female	Horseback Riding and Model United
					Nations
Gia	BC School 1	11	17	Female	Cello, Model United Nations, and
					Tutoring

Bob attended BC School 1, which is situated in a suburb of a major international trades city in China. Bob was born in a small city several hours from the school and began studying at an American school from 10 years old and switched to a Canadian international middle school.

He found the Canadian curriculum to be more inclusive and allowed him to explore career pathways, rather than Advanced Placement, International Baccalaureate, and Advanced Levels that focus on tests and exam-based assessments. Later, Bob enrolled in a BC high school program in Grade 10. Most offshore schools commence their BC programs in Grade 10 (Government of British Columbia, 2021a). He believes attending a BC school allowed him to focus on class participation, assignments and plan for his future career. It also provided opportunities to study at top universities around the world.

Bob never lived or settled anywhere outside of China and has visited predominantly countries in Asia. During his free time, he enjoys competing in public speeches, playing tennis and golf. Most notably, he favours discussing politics and economics with the teachers during tutorials and school hours. He describes himself as sociable, outgoing, and enthusiastic about developing a deeper understanding and acquiring new knowledge. His parents and teachers believe he possesses good leadership qualities and is an active learner. To further develop his perception of the world, he volunteers his time with the Student Union, Terry Fox Run, and helps children in underprivileged societies.

Candy went to BC school 1, in a suburb location of a major city, in China. Candy was born in a small city far away from her school. She visits her hometown twice a semester to see her parents and younger siblings. When deciding which school to attend, Candy's parents were a major influence and wanted her to leave the small town to experience the opportunities that come with attending a BC school in a major city. As a result, her parents and Candy chose a BC school that provides her with an international secondary school experience rather than a Chinese education and allows her to relocate and pursue an undergraduate degree abroad. She has never lived outside of China but has travelled to the UK during summers to improve her English-

speaking skills. Since her enrollment at a BC school, she finds it boring and has nothing to do other than play with Rubrik's cube, complete homework, and watch movies in her free time. She is usually found volunteering her time at the library by collecting old books and donating them to others. Most of her friends think she is a very sociable person because she has a lot of contacts on social platforms. She does not agree, however, and believes she is a shy person.

Eris enrolled at BC school 2, in a developing zone near his city. He was born and raised in the central part of China and has visited Australia and Singapore. When deciding which international school to attend, there were not that many options for Eris. There were only two types of schools in his city: a BC or a Chinese school. Chinese schools focused on SATs and tests, whereas BC schools concentrated on providing a full western type of experiential education. For Eris, the decision was not easy, and, as such, his parents played a significant part in his decision to join a BC school. Eris enrolled at the international school in Grade 9 and started his BC program in Grade 10. He has hopes of going abroad and enrolling in a biomedical engineering program.

During his spare time, Eris enjoys preparing for university abroad by designing computer programs and creating 3D models. Despite not having a hockey arena, on Wednesdays, he tries to learn floor hockey. He describes himself as a "typical science guy" who is smart, emotional, shy, and trustworthy. Due to his high standards and GPA, his classmates are always seeking to be part of his group during programs. Apart from science courses, he spends a lot of his time conversing with his social studies teachers. Their topics of conversation include perspectives of West vs. East governance, policies, and propaganda strategies. During his time at school, he is involved with the Student Union and has had lots of opportunities to improve his public speaking, problem-solving, and organizational skills through the organization of major school-

wide events, meetings, and collaborations with school leaders. While this can be very challenging for him, it allows him to get out of his comfort zone and think outside of the box, "especially when you act as the president of the union, you have to think of the bigger picture".

Flora's BCOS 2 is located in her hometown. She has had the privilege of travelling to North America and Australia but has never lived outside of China. When she graduated from middle school, her parents explored their options and decided to send her to BC school in the town. She is in her final year and is hoping to get the opportunity to study abroad. Since she is a local resident in the town, she has many benefits. She can spend her time horseback riding, socializing with her friends, and listening to music. She sees herself as an optimist and hardworking individual. She believes when you show your happiness, it "makes others feel good"; while doing your homework makes you a hardworking person. To improve her English-speaking abilities, she is a leader of the Model United Nations club at her school. This also helps her become more knowledgeable and understand different perspectives, especially when attending competitions.

Gia is enrolled at BCOS 1 and is currently in Grade 11. She considers herself to be a local resident of the city, despite being born in a different town. She has never lived abroad and has only travelled to the UK. BC school was not her choice. The Chinese *hukou* system rigid policy requires students to take their secondary school and college exams at their registered *hukou* residency (Zhou & Cheung, 2017). As a result, it was either she returned to her hometown or enrolled at an international school. Gia's low academic grades, parental guidance, her perception of the BC curriculum as challenging, and the opportunities to explore extracurricular programs, made it a primary option for her to enroll and pursue her university aspirations (i.e., to study abroad in the future).

During her free time, she enjoys playing the cello and teaching her social studies teacher Mandarin Chinese. She describes herself as a rational and open-minded individual. This allows her to be flexible and analyze situations more critically. Gia volunteers her time by teaching English to students from low socioeconomic status backgrounds in poor areas during her holidays. Additionally, she is a leader of the Model United Nations club at her school. These experiences have helped her see the world from a different perspective and, as she states, "gives me a new mind like how to cope with these problems."

Chapter 4: Findings

Introduction to Findings

This chapter describes the participants' citizenship perspectives. The categories below were constructed from my interviews with Offshore BC students. BCOS students studied in Chinese schools before enrolling in Grade 10 and engaging with the BC curriculum. The following sections are organized in methodical order according to our initial questions for this study. In the first section, I reflect on the methodology utilized in the research study. The second section explored Canadian and Chinese curriculum perceived differences. The third section was based on school structures and policies that address curricula. The fourth section elaborated on the student motivation factors towards citizenship engagement benefits and explored the various contributing factors that hinder participation in citizenship activities or programs. The fifth section described the driving forces towards citizenship development. The last section focused on Chinese citizenship perspectives of BCOS and the emerging themes. Although each section relates to a specific question, they are all interconnected with each other. While most participants were represented in each section, some of them had richer data than others. The data collected was based solely on a single interview with the participants. Quotations are utilized throughout the sections to ensure participants' voices were captured. It is important to remember that participants were second-language speakers, and when compared to native speakers, their understanding was similar to a Grade 7 student. Some participants were also having difficulty expressing their thoughts in English, and questions were rephrased to their English language skills during the interview.

Reflections on Methodology

A qualitative research study allowed the researcher to capture some participants' lived experiences and perspectives on citizenship in one-on-one interviews. Participants were able to express their thoughts and displayed emotions of love, anger, curiosity, and doubt on their citizenship experiences throughout the interviews. The researcher was able to interpret the findings and understand them in relation to Canadian and Chinese education. However, a few participants had challenges expressing and finding the right words to describe their experiences. In turn, the researcher had to fill in the gaps based on the responses of the participants without affecting the authenticity of their voices. Richer data could have been obtained in the research study if the participants had higher English language skills. COVID-19 also made it difficult for the researcher to conduct in-person and follow-up interviews with the participants to gain a deeper understanding of their responses. Participants and legal guardians were aware of a third agent or Chinese government monitoring the interviews, as such, they might have felt uneasy to fully express their opinions through the Zoom interview. Future studies should focus on prearrange follow-up interviews to better understand participants' responses with low English language skills and interviews should be conducted in-person to create a space that can allow participants to speak freely.

What are the General Perceived Differences between Canadian and Chinese Curricula? Canadian Curricula

At times, education can be seen as out of touch with reality, with students potentially finding it difficult to make connections between homework and the real world. Teachers may frequently feel the need to be in front of the class and teach by the book rather than let students

explore and investigate their own questions. However, Bob and other BCOS participants had a different perspective.

As for the Canadian education, it's practical. It's flexible. It is not solely exam-based... It seeks [to explore] the students' potential. Like, you don't have to be perfect in every subject. You can be talented in STEM subjects, but not in English. That's OK. You can be brilliant in fine arts, but also [in] another subject. That's also fine. So, in Canadian education, what I find out is that it encourages individualism; it encourages innovation, and the need to explore different talents. (Bob)

Bob defined success based on individual interest rather than focusing on STEM subjects. For Bob, everyone can be successful in the future based on their talents and skills. Students at BCOS could plan their future pathways and simultaneously explore a variety of activities or hobbies. From their perspective, the curriculum allowed teachers to take a holistic approach by paying attention to their interests and did not solely rely on examinations. Rather than referencing the curricula, they frequently spoke about the educational system as an entity. This was an important point to take into consideration because it was so frequently mentioned in their discussions and dominated the conversation throughout the interviews.

When asked about the benefits of Canadian education, they frequently described it as flexible, explorational, project-based, and open-minded. The flexibility allowed them to explore their interests. Students could enroll in a variety of courses such as fine arts and career education, along with STEM and English courses. Participants were exposed to various types of teaching practices, which allowed students to showcase their knowledge of the examined topics. Those included presentations, seminars, group projects, and activities. As Eris states:

But, here we got more varieties of the form of homework, like we've got [opportunities to do] presentations, we got a lot of group works, we have to learn how to communicate and how to collaborate with others. Otherwise, you're going to be the one who finished all the work, which is also happened to me because the students just don't do their work. But I think it's kind of [an] experience you have to come through and after this, you could improve yourself. (Eris)

Eris enjoyed engaging in various types of projects in a BCOS. He experienced challenges with other students not contributing to group assignments. However, he acknowledged it was important to go through challenges in projects because they are more directly related to real-life projects and citizenship development. Eris recognized that, in the future, he might not be able to do all the projects by himself, especially if it is a big project that may require the assistance of various individuals with different skills. Participants continuously emphasized the curriculum benefits and having more "free time" and valued the relationships they built with their teachers. In turn, these relationships helped participants develop their social skills and build their confidence which are important for building their citizenship engagement. Students had the freedom to decide how to use the extra time. In comparison, the Chinese examination system did not allocate time for students to build their personal and citizenship skills. For example, Candy had an additional six hours a day to communicate with her friends or relax, and Flora took advantage of that time and was highly involved with Model United Nations. She was able to explore other citizens' perspectives, and deeply understand the issues at hand.

However, no system is perfect. When participants were asked about the challenges with the BCOS education, they did not hold back their thoughts. Most participants were local citizens, specifically ESL students, and struggled with the language. This is not a surprise given the fact

the participants were not fully integrated into English language school before attending BC schools.

I believe it's still language barriers, and especially when you're just transferred to a full English environment. [When] I was in primary school [at] public school, I was not actively [communicating in] English. After [enrolling in BCOS] I even can't really understand what my teacher was saying about. So, this might be the biggest challenge for me. (Gia)

Most of the students in BCOS came from the Chinese Educational system and most likely had limited exposure to English. As such, the use of examination-based assessments did not promote the development of their English communication skills. They were particularly frustrated during their first year in BCOS, as they had difficulty understanding and communicating with their teachers. Participants even blamed the Chinese education system for failing to fully prepare them to communicate in English. However, they did recognize that being in BCOS provided them with the opportunity to regularly practise and integrate their English skills. As a result, they noticed overall improvements in their abilities to express themselves in English to a point where they could gossip with their classmates and teachers.

While language barriers were frequently mentioned in participants' interviews, Flora believed mindset could play a significant role in understanding teachers' backgrounds and teaching practices in the classroom. How could one student understand metaphors when they do not understand the culture and their practices? I vividly remember when I was teaching Grade 10 students, I tried to elaborate on a life lesson with the metaphor "early bird catches the worm" and a student immediately responded with, "what if you are that early worm?" From that point onwards, I was very cautious about utilizing metaphors with my students. I had to maintain a

foreign teachers and impacted participants' understanding of citizenship.

flexible mindset when conversing with them; otherwise, they would not understand the Western culture and me. This was not any different from Flora's response.

It's like a different mindset because it's still a language, but I like my teachers, especially like my foreign teacher. They won't think the way how Chinese think. So, sometimes I just can't understand why. They teach certain things in a certain way and they are speaking a certain way. This is something that I met some problem with. (Flora)

Flora was clearly experiencing similar issues with her foreign teachers. She faced challenges understanding their mindset and language. Not only were there cultural differences but also understanding the language added an additional layer of challenge in communicating with her

Most participants in BCOS were in boarding schools, away from their parents and would have to do their laundry, dishes, cleaning, and scheduling, while still exploring their future pathways. At times, this could be exhausting, especially if you just left your parents and have to problem solve issues daily. While discussing levels of independence with Bob, he believed Canadian education was not as cohesive, which made understanding the university application process harder.

The challenges the Canadian system is that in England, in Britain, they have A-level system which is widely acceptable in the Commonwealth system. In Canada, you have the British Columbia and Yukon area, you have the Ontario education... and each different provinces, according to their legislation, can set different education standards and that, I think this is just my opinion, is less united than other countries. When you are looking at a university application website, you will see that when you click in Canada, there's all different provinces. For example, British Columbia. The entrance requirement

is this and that, this province entrance requirement is this and that, and sometimes confusions might exist. And I think that the challenges for the Canadian [it's] the legislative part and that's the general part. (Bob)

The various provincial practices and legislative structure made it extremely difficult to understand how to proceed. According to Bob, A-levels are recognized worldwide, whereas the provincial legislative differences prevent Canadian education from having a cohesive system that is recognized everywhere. Students often have to figure out how to apply to various universities across Canada on their own. The entrance and course requirements change from province to province.

Chinese Curricula

While the BCOS has contributed in many ways to students, it is important to take a look at the benefits and challenges of the Chinese education system, too. When I interviewed the participants, they spoke highly of the solid foundation in mathematics, science, cultural differences, speed of thought, and examinations. However, there were various challenges, including competitive environments, class sizes, and content-based educational systems, which limited students' future pathways and citizenship engagement. Yet, they did acknowledge that many of these challenges rose from the high population. When we compare a city in China with a city in Canada, they are not even comparable because the city of Shanghai has over 26 million people alone, whereas Toronto has approximately 3 million.

When discussing the benefits of the Chinese education system, participants recognized the importance of being disciplined with their studies. Chinese students are known to focus on mathematics/science. This stereotype was confirmed by Bob and Gia, and they went on to provide further insight on this topic.

It really lays a very good foundation, especially in secondary education, and really lays a solid foundation for students. For example, I'm not being stereotypical, but you can see from the statistics that Chinese students perform better in math contests. They do better in like physics, they have really sound knowledge in these subjects. And that is partly because they receive practice, tons of practice in their daily life. This is an advantage because, well, you gain knowledge through practice. You have this certain skill of solving problem-solving questions effectively, efficiently, and so through a large amount of practice. (Bob)

Gia provided additional insight:

A Chinese education do lay a very firm foundation of study as this can be witnessed from students who transferred to a BC curriculum after they graduated from the middle school, like in Chinese education. So, like they know a lot like they literally know a lot and sometimes the class we learn like in grade eleven or twelve they already learned in grade nine. They learn things deeply, but the BC curriculum is more comprehensive. It's not. I mean, just basically [Chinese education students] know more than us, especially for science subjects. (Gia)

Bob suggested that repetition and practice might not cater to a holistic education, but it appeared to hold some strength for BCOS students. In its way, it gave them a competitive edge by allowing them to learn content in the earlier years of their education. Gia believed content taught in Grade 11 BC classes is usually covered in Grade 9 Chinese classes. Both participants felt that this opportunity allowed them to identify and solve questions efficiently and effectively. This appeared to play a significant role during tests and exams when time is a constraint.

Studying a language is not about being able to speak, read and write only. The Chinese have a famous proverb: "To learn a language is to have one more window from which to look at the world" (Wayne State University, 2021). Through it, you can understand cultural differences and beliefs, government structures, laws, and values. None of the participants have ever resided in other countries, but by attending BCOS, they had the opportunity to appreciate their own cultural beliefs.

I'm going abroad and I'm starting to better understanding of my own country. This is a kind, of course, that could give me an opportunity to learn more about my own culture, learn more about Chinese government policies, something like that. (Eris)

By attending BCOS, Eris was able to reflect on the differences between Canadian culture and simultaneously start to question and understand his Chinese culture. Participants did not hesitate to discuss the Chinese educational challenges within public schools. Due to the high population, participants were not able to value their education as much as in the BCOS curriculum. Teachers did not have time to concentrate on students in the classroom and would often give them tests or exams. Students had to spend a lot of time studying for those tests and exams. University

Entrance exams added an additional stress. Students' dreams were shattered if they did not spend

most of their day studying and preparing for these tests. As a result, participants did not feel they

were building their critical thinking and innovations skills needed to develop their citizenship

skills.

When I observed participants' responses closely, they were concerned with their learning and would question the importance of the curriculum. While they understood the system was not perfect due to the high population, they often questioned it and turned to their parents for

answers. In the classroom, most students would refrain from asking questions and preferred

listening to the teachers. Bob believed Chinese students are very intelligent and are trained to think efficiently under pressure, yet not being fully engaged in learning limits students' innovation and critical thinking skills. Furthermore, Eris was very dissatisfied with his education and spoke of his experience in the Chinese public school. He did not conform to Chinese values and would look elsewhere for answers.

It's like you have to listen something you don't want to listen. Like, they keep telling us to be patriotism, like to love your country. You also need to love the Chinese government, also need to love Chinese parties... It's like some of my classmates, they did pretty well with those courses, and they accept the Chinese government's value. But for me, I'm not 100 percent accept some of the Chinese government's values. But, I started to like trying to understand what they did for this country and what they are going to do for this country. I also talked to my parents or the other elderly people in my families and they tell me that Chinese government acts some of their way is actually because we got so much population, we've got 1.4 billion people in this country... Anyways, it's complicated, but I'm still trying to understanding what the Chinese government trying to do and what this world going on. (Eris)

For Eris, looking for answers meant speaking to his elders as to why the government kept pushing them to love their country and become *Patriotic*. Eris's questioning approach exhibits characteristics of *Justice-oriented* citizenship; focusing on understanding the root of the issues in society rather than of a *Patriotic* citizen. Most of his elders did not question the issues, blamed the high population, and felt this was the government elite to solve. Within China, the high population had negative cascading effects on the students' future dreams and goals. With so many students wanting to attend a university, space becomes limited, and thus competition

increases. As a result, Chinese students were only focusing on how to obtain high grades, do well on exams, and get accepted into a good university. They no longer had any free time to engage in sports or socialize with peers. Parents would only congratulate their children when they obtained high grades. Before choosing their dream university, they would have to complete a university entrance exam called the *gao-kao*. Gia described it as a "super-hard" exam, and those who obtained low scores were pushed aside into the art programs. According to Candy, art programs are thought of as "low knowledge level," and acceptance into these programs was easier. Science courses are thought to stimulate objective thinking while art allowed students to think subjectively. When the curriculum brushes aside the arts, it indirectly tells students not to value the freedom of expression, storytelling, songs, and the very things that connect communities and citizens.

The pressure for students to perform well was also felt by their teachers. There were fifty to sixty students in each class, and teachers did not have time for all of them. They had to be strict and inflexible to maintain classroom management and prepare students for *gao-kao*. Their teaching practices were hindered and shifted from active learning to test-based assessments. That one-to-one interaction, student engagement, and questioning of the material that is so valuable for learning was brushed aside. Bob stated:

These things are very time consuming. Teachers need to plan [lessons], students need to discuss critical thinking must spark. So, with the intensified examination system going on in China, teachers don't want to, "waste their time," to do group works and assignments and posters. The time spend on one poster is approximately the time spent on three test papers. So why not just do the three test papers? (Bob)

Bob felt that teachers prioritized exams and considered discussions as a waste of time. On the opposite end, without the critical thinking skills, Bob was left concerned about the future implications on society. The development of citizenship requires critical thinking skills, communication, and interacting with others to solve the issues of tomorrow. However, citizenship skills cannot be developed if there is no time allocated for students.

What Curricula Address Citizenship Within BCOS?

One of the main components of BCOS focuses on providing students with more time to explore their hobbies and develop as citizens (Ministry of Education, 2018). When participants were asked how they developed citizenship in/out of the classroom, their examples varied from participant to participant. Their understanding of being a good citizen was developed by participating in classroom activities, engaging in school events, and following school regulations. A set of policies were set in place to guide students towards becoming effective participants. Those policies were constructed by the BC Ministry of Education, students' perspectives and were aligned with the school's goals. Students, teachers, and administrators worked together to design programs that met the needs of the students.

Developing citizenship in and out of the classroom was not easily accepted by students.

According to Bob, students frequently complained about collaborating with their classmates, but he believed it was necessary to find a way to collaborate to ensure they became good citizens.

They needed to utilize their communication skills to solve problems rather than relying on their own. Candy also added:

When I was middle school, I never tried that kind of before. So, I do finish all the homework individually, which means I lose the chance to communicate with others and lose the chance to lead people to do something. And I like have this group experience. I

find it that finally, I have the sense of the group that I want to lead [and become] better. (Candy)

For Candy, attending middle school in a Chinese public school meant focusing on one's individual homework. Collaboration was not promoted and that meant she did not have the opportunity to develop it. By attending BCOS, she got opportunities to connect with others and lead a group of students as well.

Gia also believed that the teacher's oral direction of right and wrong guided their understanding. For example, if a student disrespected a classmate, they were called out for this inappropriate behaviour. Since most of the students resided in the dormitories of the school, the school regulations allowed them to develop good habits. Students were responsible for cleaning their dormitory and classrooms. Gia believed the school rules were equivalent to the laws in the real world. If one does not know how to stay clean, how can one take care of the environment? Similar analogies were used with cheating. If one cheats on a test, what will happen if one copies a patent and claims it as their original work? Good habits were also developed by volunteering in the community, running charity events such as Terry Fox Run, and helping those in need, especially the elderly. By doing so, they were able to contribute to the development of the country.

Students' engagement is not the only factor contributing to their development. According to the participants, the BC Ministry of Education has designed a curriculum to further develop their citizenship participation and understanding. Eris believes there are six core values implemented by the classroom teacher. Additionally, posters are placed around the school, displaying them on the walls/classrooms. He was unable to recall all of them, but he said some

included "communicating, creative thinking, critical thinking." Volunteer hours are also part of their graduation requirements.

In order to graduate, not only the BC Education Ministry requires 30 hours of voluntary work, [but] our school also encourage us to go out and do some volunteering teaching; to volunteer in the subway stations, to take care of the cats and dogs and puppies and our school. Normally, we'll organize one to two more charity and volunteering activity per month. (Bob)

Bob's school encouraged students to complete more than the required volunteer hours. However, helping others should not become a chore. It should motivate students to become active participants in their citizenship development and help those in need. Students learn to appreciate what they have and empathize with the less fortunate. When students engage with the community, they can see the world through a different lens. Career Life Education and Career Life Connections played a significant role for Bob and Eris in learning about careers and being responsible citizens. Bob said in those courses, "students must take Career Life Education and Career Life Connections, which I think is necessary because they learn how to become an adult and a citizen." On the other hand, Candy went even deeper suggesting that school philosophy played a significant role in respecting others, building friendships, and developing time management skills that would ultimately help them in the development of the country and not just as citizens. Gia added the school philosophy allowed them to advocate for those in need, especially if they were facing any issues or conflict with others.

The last contributors to the citizenship development were the students themselves. Most participants believed the school consulted students and regularly sent out surveys to improve their citizenship programs. Students had the opportunity to create various clubs with the

agreement of a teacher and the principal during the first semester of the school year. Upon collection of the various clubs, the Student Union would organize a club fair to promote all the clubs, and students could sign up according to their interests. Students were assigned a classroom to hold their meetings or clubs in.

The only time I went that conference, [when it was] about life or events they want me to do. [It is] kind of something like the propaganda for the student union because the principal just simply wants me to show how well the student union did to the other...

Other than that, for the BC policies, we students we [were invited to] do interviews with people [that] came from Canada or came from the other international schools, but I don't think students can affect a lot of international BC courses policy. (Eris)

However, according to Eris, the administration team would only consult or invite students to meetings to showcase their strong qualities to everyone else. Students were also interviewed by the BC government to discuss policies, but he did not believe this influenced BC courses and policies.

What Motivates Students to Engage in Citizenship Education?

Every participant had a unique experience, and when we discussed the different factors that can help students participate in citizenship activities, they all had different responses. Their responses were geared towards making connections, gaining experience and opportunities, feeling a sense of accomplishment, and having support from various personnel. Only one participant stated that the question could only be answered by an adult. This is important to note. While most of the participants were very confident in their responses, adults may play a significant role in determining the effectiveness of the programs, and as a result, I called this section internal versus external factors. Internal indicates the components needed for a person to

design a successful program, and external means require the assistance of others. Internal and external factors created a supportive environment and impacted students' citizenship understanding, development and engagement.

When we observe the internal factors affecting participation in citizenship activities, interviewees realized the importance of fulfilling their personal needs to further develop themselves. Flora recognized the importance of attending activities to ensure she can get further ahead in her life.

Also, for make friends and gain more knowledge and more experiences which can be written on your resume, when you are finding a job, or when you apply the university is also a good experience and that's all. (Flora)

She suggested having friends would broaden her network and allow her to gain more experiences. These experiences can also be recorded on a resume for future jobs. Bob reiterated the importance of not helping others for personal gains but rather for the sense of achievement while engaging in community volunteer programs.

I think it's the sense of achievement, the sense of helping others and a sense of satisfaction when you know that somebody's life improved or when you know that the society, the community where you live improves. You will naturally have a sense of satisfaction, you appreciate what you have worked, you appreciate the effort you've made, and you say to yourself, oh, all the work deserve this. This result deserves all my work and I will do this again. (Bob)

For Bob and the other participants, engaging in activities that have measurable outcomes led them to be more likely to be enthusiastic, give back to the community, and maintain these helpful habits. On the other hand, there were external factors influencing the outcome of the programs;

community contributions and social support were continuously mentioned. Participants had wished the programs were geared towards their personal needs rather than being generic. While Eris was unaware of the factors affecting citizenship programs' participation, he acknowledged that it is complicated, yet "you have to understand what do you want like for... Like one of my classmates, he just want to be a cook." Bringing new ideas to the table could enrich the programs and further connect the students. Flora suggested having sports competitions as another form of engagement. Students can experience life outside of school while competing against others. However, Bob added that not every program is going to be successful, and adults need to attempt to explore new avenues to enrich the programs. These programs take time to be effectively designed and appeal to the masses.

The adults in the school, family, and neighbourhood all contribute to the students' ability to achieve their goals and inspirations. There is a famous African proverb: "It takes a village to raise a child." In this case, it appears to be supported by the participants. Candy believed that "lots of citizenship are more popular for the adults, not the students". This is not a surprise considering how the Chinese government focuses on knowledge-based education rather than helping students become active participants in their school and communities. Gia stressed the importance of family and teachers play in their citizenship engagement.

At least in China, like student who are in international school or private school are usually quite wealthy. So, their family do have like a company and their father usually is a businessman and they can provide a lot of opportunity towards the children. (Gia)

The socioeconomic status of the parents contributes significantly to the citizenship development of the students. Parents whose children attend international schools are usually wealthy, and some of the families have their own companies. They can afford to send their children to

cultivate experiences outside of the classroom or school. In contrast, poorer students rely on the education they obtain from public schools. Internal and external factors can greatly benefit citizenship development. Internal factors satisfy the needs of the students while fully engaging with the community and making a difference. External factors can bring more tools to the table for students to explore. Programs should focus on the greater masses of students while also tailoring them to their needs. Teachers and administrators need to come together to design effective programs. When students participate in various activities, they may not realize they are simultaneously learning how to become better citizens. When participants were asked about the benefits of engaging in citizenship activities, they all were very insightful and personal. Through the discussions, they indicated they developed their skills, built new friendships, gained new experiences, felt a sense of satisfaction, and acquired new perspectives. Only Eris was not sure of the benefits of engaging in citizenship activities.

As Table 2 illustrates, Bob was heavily involved with the student union and volunteer programs within and outside of school. His experiences helped him develop different types of (personal) skills that are not fostered in classroom settings. He learned how to build his organizational skills by communicating and collaborating with different members of the clubs and student unions. It challenged him to become a better leader. Gia believed it helped her develop a growth mindset. On the other hand, Eris acknowledged his attendance in multiple events and activities, such as the student union and school performances, yet he did not believe it helped him in any way to become a better citizen. If anything, he felt he was just making propaganda for the school by engaging in a variety of school activities and events.

I also did some propagandas for the school like to go to the meet with other parents to say what they did in our school and how [I] did at international school, but that's in grade 10.

And that do give me experience about how well that went. But, it might won't help me.

It's certainly became a part of me, but it won't help me to become a better citizen. (Eris) In contrast to Eris, Candy believed citizenship activities helped her gain experience and increase her social circle. Her extended social circle would allow her to acquire new knowledge from her friends or the adults involved in those activities and avoid any future mistakes. Such experiences also exposed the participants to different perspectives, which ultimately helped them formulate their own opinions. Gia's experience in the debate club demonstrates how continual involvement in activities can shape one's view.

At first, I think [a] debate [allows us] to write down a lot of things because you won't get the topic before the debate competition. And I first had opinion, I think that debate is only to read what you wrote on the paper and to just debate others saying. After I participated, I found that it's not like this. It's totally not like this. If others show their point of view, and you need to stand your position to argue with that point of view. And it's also can make you happy by comprehensive thinking. Yeah, it's not, you may not see just one side of a thing and I think you'll understand that other thing has every single side you need to understand. (Gia)

At first, Gia did not understand the importance of engagement in clubs, but with time, she was able to appreciate the acquired knowledge and developed her views during her research and competitions. Initially, the debate competition was just a speech for her, but with time she started to acknowledge the importance of learning how to defend her perspective and appreciate others' points of view too. When one is exposed to the external environment or society, they are better able to understand how the world functions, and "it helps you to better adapt [and shape] your life as an adult." Additionally, Flora believed being a student in the school plays a part, but it is

not everything. Whereas Bob believed when you grow and become a better person, you should also feel a sense of accomplishment.

You feel proud when you see that your social work is worth your effort, that things, that good outcomes, really you produced outcomes that are satisfactory. So, I think in general, it's really helpful to do citizenship developments. (Bob)

When students contribute to society, they should not do so for any personal benefits but rather for the collective good, for the knowledge that someone else's life has been positively impacted by the contribution. The Chinese core socialist values focus on the collective good rather than individual interests. Students should understand the importance of citizenship engagement and the positive impact on oneself and others. Otherwise, participants might not grasp the big idea and may not grow up to become genuine contributors. Some participants might get involved to improve their skills, for the sense of satisfaction obtained from helping others, and for the overall experience.

What Barriers Impact Citizenship Learning?

Each participant gave their perception of contributing barriers towards engagement in citizenship activities. As indicated in Table 3, their answers were divided into three categories: personal, psychological, and financial barriers. Personal included their free will, level of interest, and benefits; psychological factors encompassed adaptation challenges, video games, and homework. Finally, financial resources included monetary contributions and lack of opportunities. While all factors are discussed, some were mentioned by multiple participants.

Table 3

Barriers Impact Citizenship Learning

Personal	Psychological	Financial
Free will	Adaptation Challenges	Monetary contributions
Level of Interest	Video Games	Lack of Opportunities
Benefits	Homework	

Participants believed students' interest levels could greatly increase their engagement in activities if they could choose and clearly understand the benefits. As educators, we might comprehend the positive impact of students engaging in citizenship development activities, but students might not fully understand them. For example, Candy was unable to clearly describe the benefits it brings to students.

Also, the benefits of those citizenship activities are not as clear as that. Not like [working] hard in school, [or] I will gain a high grade, but the citizenship activities brings to us the tiny benefits that will help us but [are also] not clear to see. (Candy)

Most participants found the benefits of citizenship activities challenging to understand. Similar to Candy, Bob and Eris had difficulty explicitly stating the benefits. The school administrations should concentrate on minimizing the misconceptions students hold about citizenship activities and design flexible programs that cater to students' needs and explicitly state the benefits of their engagement in citizenship activities.

In addition to personal factors, participants believed psychological factors also hindered students' participation. Candy thought students might not be interested in attending activities due

to challenges with adapting to their new environment and thus, are more likely to play video games. Interestingly, the biggest factor in this section is homework. It was mentioned by three participants. The feeling of being constantly under pressure due to final exams and/or tests kept them away from attending the activities. Bob perfectly explained, "I think... they overload, overwhelm [students with] homework [and] exams. Students in China don't regularly attend activities because, well, they're too busy." It is common for Chinese students to feel overwhelmed with homework and put all their energy into their studies instead of actively participating within their communities.

The last factor is financial support. Eris stood out by being frustrated with his school culture, which was evident in his responses. He characterized his school as forceful and did not obtain any monetary support when attempting to design purposeful events. Eris said:

The BC principals can't. He didn't have any money to give us to split. He only had a little amount of money. Like, for one event, he only can offers us like two hundred [dollars]. Less than 1000 yuan which is almost like less than 200 Canadian dollars. So, to organize an event for the whole schools, which is sometimes pretty frustrated, I think. But, at least I tried I think. (Eris)

He continuously mentioned the negative impact the school administration had on his development. When he would seek support to facilitate events for students, he was met with pushback and a lack of financial support by the school. Gia also adds that the schools are not doing enough to provide students with opportunities to find citizenship activities. When they do find them, there are typically limited resources available to create a positive experience and understand its purpose.

Regardless of personal, psychological, or financial reasons, participants focused more on factors that could be improved than on those going well. Greater emphasis needs to be placed on the quantity and quality of the programs. With more attention placed on details and the creation of flexible programs, students will be more likely to participate. Administrators will need to reconsider financial resource allocations to improve student participation in citizenship activities.

Chapter 5: Analysis

Following the qualitative research proposed by Merriam and Tisdell (2016), the goal of this chapter is to understand the experiences of BCOS students in Mainland China as they lived them. The researcher focused on collecting interview data in the natural setting to formulate deeper meaning and develop a picture of participants' citizenship perspectives. Due to participants' low English language comprehension, the researcher continuously adjusted questions during interviews to analyze, understand, and build concepts. In this chapter, I discuss the BCOS curriculum to the Chinese system, citizenship development, citizenship concepts and the various factors that impacted participants' engagement levels. I then analyze my questions based on participants' reflections and the current literature review. Figure 1 captures the analysis of the findings.

Understanding the Differences of the West and East

It is important to develop an understanding of BC and Chinese curricula while I attempt to describe how citizenship is structured in BCOS. As illustrated in Figure 1, participants in this study reinforced some common beliefs that are trending in current research, such as participants feeling disadvantaged by attending the public schools in China, and they continuously mentioned the emphasis of the Chinese curriculum on examination results and the high-school tier system. To no surprise, Liu (2018) suggested similar findings. The tough examination-based system had forced the wealthier students to seek other ways of getting to their destination other than the public system. However, participants did recognize the solid knowledge foundation the Chinese educational system provides before entering BCOS. By having a strong middle school foundation, they believe it made it easier for them to attend BCOS since it is not considered to be as challenging as the Chinese Educational system. This is evident in the research conducted on

British Columbia schools by Alexander (2019). Participants in the study believed they were at an advantage when enrolling into BCOS because they already possessed the necessary knowledge.

Figure 1.

BCOS Citizenship Perspectives in Mainland China

Citizenship Typologies									
Personally-responsible citizenship Participatory citizenship Justice-oriented citizenship Patriotic citizenship									
Citizen Development Factors									
School Structure	Engageme	ent Factors	Curriculum						
After-school programs Organized curriculum Opportunities for development	After-school programs Organized curriculum Opportunities for Frication Sense of a Personal Sociological Soci		Career life courses Core competencies Free time						
	Curriculum								
West		East							
Positives: Holistic, flexible, Challenges: Understanding culture		Positive: Strong knowledge foundation Challenges: Examinations and tier system							

On the other hand, the Canadian curriculum provides a flexible and holistic environment, which leads participants to feel supported by teachers and staff. The curriculum allowed them to develop inquiry-based skills. Participants did, however, experience some difficulty when transitioning from a Chinese to English-speaking curriculum. Eris and other participants had challenges transitioning from a knowledge-based educational model to inquiry-based projects.

Wang (2017) believes this was due to a cultural difference between the two nations and offshore schools should not be viewed as an education service only. They represent the Western ideologies, values, and beliefs, which are different from China. What might have seemed illogical in Chinese teaching practices was logical in foreign teachers' practices and application methodologies. Students not raised with a Western experience had challenges understanding Canadian values and beliefs. The examination-based system (gao-kao) in China and the focus on knowledge-based practices made it difficult for students to understand the impact that arts and project-based learning could have on their education and careers (Wu, 2008). Souza and Damaceno (2017) believe curricula that contain arts and science can develop objective and subjective citizens. The arts allowed freedom of expression, whereas science allowed students to be highly organized. When science and art are combined, they have the power to be dynamic and create a language that is more accessible for all citizens. Projects in Chinese schools were viewed as time-consuming, and teachers did not want to waste their time on them. One project took the same amount of time as three tests, classes contained more than 40 students, and it was difficult for the teacher to cater to the individual needs of the students. As illustrated in Figure 1, students were unable to develop their interests and citizenship with the intensified examination system. Students were more concerned about attaining high grades to gain acceptance into their dream universities and pursue science-based careers. Students that did not receive a high grade in their exams were not able to attend university and were pushed aside into careers that might not have reflected their interests.

Citizenship with Chinese Characteristics

While looking back at citizenship perceptions and how they have specifically evolved over many years in China, the BCOS has broadened the horizon for students to explore other

avenues of citizenship and has guided them to formulate their perceptions. Firstly, *Personally-responsible* and *Participatory* citizenship perceptions appeared to be common ideologies for most participants. Secondly, Patriotic citizenship was common among most participants and appeared to be strongly associated with Chinese core values. Lastly, new emerging perceptions of *Justice-Oriented* and environmental citizenships are growing among Chinese students.

Throughout my literature review, I discussed the various types of citizens and how Chinese citizenship, unlike the West, can support citizens and prosper as a nation. When describing the East, what is often perceived as totalitarian by the West is not perceived as such by the participants. When I analyzed the data, participants expressed the need to be *Personally-responsible* and active citizens within their nation in hopes of creating an equitable environment for all. This fell in line with Westheimer and Kahne's (2004) typologies of *Personally-responsible* and *Participatory* citizens. Examples of *Personally-responsible* citizens included abiding by the laws, being honest, respecting everyone, supporting the elderly homes, paying taxes, taking care of the environment, and having a job. Some of the participants believed that having a job was a way of contributing to society because they otherwise become a burden on the system. Not having a job was also equivalent to being a prisoner because the government would have to fund the prison cells.

Participatory citizens were engaged in leadership activities in the community by becoming active members in the Student Union, organizing programs to support students in rural areas, and creating charitable events within the school. However, *Participatory* citizens did emphasize the importance of including every citizen to have long-lasting impacts on society. These concepts directly match the multileveled dimensional framework discussed in Pan (2011), which requires the input from "self, local, national and global" to support citizenship

development by acquiring knowledge and formulating multiple identities, not just with the state, but beyond the broader community. Participants in the study were aware of their self, local, and national responsibilities. However, little was mentioned regarding global awareness. This does not come as a surprise when considering that Chinese citizenship education traces back to the Qing dynasty era. In this tradition, citizens needed to be respectful in public, maintain loyalty to the emperor and abide by the *Guomin bidu*, which means maintaining loyalty to the ruler and following the nation's goals (Liu, 2011). The Qing dynasty was overthrown, but its citizenship education endured. Citizenship ideologies in the late 1940s were designed to create citizens who were loyal to the state, self-sacrificial, socially responsible, and loving of the nation (Zhong & Lee, 2008). Most recently, Chinese core socialist values focus on national interest and not on global responsibilities (Pan, 2011).

A third typology discovered in the study was *Patriotic* citizenship. Participants expressed their love for their country and the actions they were taking towards improving it. Simple to complex actions were taken for the betterment of the nation. One of the quotes that resonate here is from Bob:

If we combine together, if we group up, we'll be able to generate much, much bigger power, like it's not about multiplication. I often say that two people can generate a power greater than one plus one. (Bob)

From Bob's perspective, a population could be stronger when its population is unified under the same values. The concept of one's love for the country was discussed in Leung et al. (2014). In their study, the category of *Justice-oriented* citizens was more important than *Patriotic* citizens among Hong Kong students. However, in this current study, I found the opposite. All participants in this study were from Mainland China and as a result, exhibited more *Patriotic*

traits. They were not likely to challenge the status quo or political ideologies. They hoped that gaining certain knowledge could help them find avenues to create positive change. The true power for change was believed to lay with the politicians and the government officials. However, one idea that was not popular among Chinese students was the idea of *Justice-oriented* citizens. Participants did not discuss advocating and making changes within the political system. They believed it was better to contribute to a stronger nation together than be divided. The idea of maintaining harmony within a nation has been deeply rooted in historical context. China, as we know it today, is composed on the idea of aiguo zhuyi (love-country-ism) and the Confucian ideologies of maintaining a harmonious society (Bislev & Li, 2004; Wang, 2018). While many have advocated for Confucian practices and their positive impact on citizenship, in this study, Confucian practices appeared to hinder liberal citizenship. Justice-oriented citizenship and liberal citizenship are interconnected in many ways. Liberal citizenship promotes human right and Justice-oriented citizenship challenge the status quo (Westheimer & Kahne, 2004; Wang, 2015). Participants' love for China and the Chinese government's policies on maintaining a harmonious environment posed a threat to Justice-oriented citizenship development.

Furthermore, participants believed for one to be a good citizen, they must be a good person. Chia and Zhao (2020) noted that in the East, morality and citizenship are viewed synonymously. Participants continuously described a good person as being respectful, honest, friendly, and having wisdom. The qualities the participants identified with being a good person fall under the umbrella of the Chinese core socialist values. These values were divided into three levels: the citizen, the societal and the national levels (Gow, 2017). At the citizen level, the values included "patriotism, dedication, integrity, and friendship" (p. 104). These values were specifically designed to maintain a harmonious environment between citizens in hopes of

achieving the Chinese dream of developing a prosperous country. Without dedicated citizens, such goals could not be achieved, and this was evident in the participants. They wanted to be part of the Chinese Dream and contribute to their country's development. The Chinese Communist Party accomplished its vision based on the "differential mode of association." According to Fei et al. (1992), this approach allowed people to connect in multiple ways, from friends to the community. It outlined clear moral expectations for every person in specific contexts. It also outlined the "Confucian hierarchies in Chinese social relations; the self is defined in terms of its relationships with others, necessitating adherence to culturally bound codes of etiquette, protocol, and convention" (Gow, 2017, p. 105). Their principles and values were guided by the Chinese core socialist values, which followed the Confucian way. The idea of a good citizen was not inherent, but rather it was something that you develop over time between people, context, and government agencies.

The Development of Western Citizenship in BCOS in China

Citizenship has developed differently in the East from the West. The Chinese government utilized the Chinese core socialist values from citizens and from the societal to a national level to educate their citizens. Conversely, the Canadian government is guided by the Westheimer and Kahne (2004) typologies; *Personally-responsible*, *Participatory*, and *Justice-oriented* citizens. These differences are also evident in the implementation strategies of citizenship from the BC Ministry of Education and the Canadian government.

As illustrated in Figure 1, participants were able to become *Personally-responsible* citizens. Participants found it important to take into consideration their future planning and to have free time to explore their interests. This aligned with the BC Ministry of Education's (2018) *Vision for Student Success* policy. It focuses on educating citizens by developing their

intellectual, human, social, and career perspectives. Participants' career development was continuously supported in BCOS and they felt guided towards their university and adulthood transition by Career Life Education and Career Life Connections courses. According to the BC Ministry of Education (2021), Career Life Education was first introduced to the students in Grade 10 and focused on career choices, decisions, networking, balance, and lifelong learning. Career Life Connections is mandatory in Grade 12 and expands on career development, decisions, reciprocal relationships, and a sense of wellbeing. The affirmation course acted as a guide for the students, especially since most students resided in boarding schools and needed some additional guidance in terms of their future pathways.

Participants continuously re-emphasized the importance of having more free time at BCOS than in the Chinese schools. I would argue that having more free time allowed them opportunities as *Participatory* citizens. They participated in social responsibility programs that helped people in need and explored perspectives of other cultures by engaging in discussions with their classmates and foreign teachers. They felt included in the process; they could engage in meaningful discussion freely and pursue their interests outside of the classroom.

Characteristics of *Participatory* citizens are similar to the educated citizens of human and social development outlined in the *Vision for Student Success* policy by the BC Ministry of Education. Educators focused on a sense of social responsibility, acceptance of others' beliefs, and an appreciation of fine arts. Free time also allowed participants to develop their collaboration skills and core competencies by becoming critical thinkers rather than passive learners who memorize facts for the purpose of tests and exams. Chinese students are taught to submit to authority and not question teachers' knowledge. Policies in 1996 had started to focus on individual development rather than ideopolitical socialization (Zhang & Fagan, 2016). However, that was

not the case in our study. Teachers' ideologies and practices in the Chinese school nurtured communist values to the students. According to Wen and Clément (2003), submitting to authority does not allow the students to reach their full potential and interact with their peers and teachers. To some extent, the BC Ministry of Education attempts to foster lifelong learners that can engage in discussion with other citizens. According to the BC Ministry of Education (2018), becoming a lifelong learner is part of the core competencies. Core competencies include skills such as learning how to reflect on personal and social beliefs, being critical and creative thinkers and understanding how to communicate effectively. Surprisingly, these skills are also required for being a good citizen. The Immigration Canada website (2021) explains that good citizens should "engage in respectful and meaningful conversations with peers about current events." Participants were able to engage in meaningful discussion throughout their social studies course and during class discussions, projects, and assignments. Some participants went as far as creating debate clubs to strengthen their understanding of current social issues.

It is important to note that even though participants emphasized collaboration and building their core competency skills, they still experienced challenges understanding more diverse expressions of citizenship. This does not come as a surprise, however, considering the participants had grown up as *Patriotic* citizens with beliefs tied to the Chinese dream of developing a prosperous nation (Leung et al., 2014). Chinese *Patriotic* citizens' views did not align with Canadian *Justice-oriented* citizens typology in Westheimer and Kahne (2004) and global citizenship goals in Oxley and Morris (2013). By being loyal to the government, and believing in the Chinese dream, participants in the study were new to the idea of *Justice-oriented* citizenship. While *Participatory* citizens engage in helping others in need, *Justice-oriented* citizens tackle social injustices and devise possible responses; they seek to question why certain

inequalities exist and take appropriate actions towards change (Westheimer & Kahne, 2004). Although BCOS participants started to develop their analytical and independent skills to express their thoughts and act on social inequalities, they were still relatively *Patriotic* and loyal to the Chinese state. Oxley and Morris (2013) believe that *Patriotic* citizenship and loyalty to one state is morally unacceptable and does not foster global citizenship. According to Alexander (2019), the student population of BCOS is mainly of Chinese descent. Having a homogenous population and a government that reinforces *Patriotic* values does not help develop students' global citizenship. In our study, participants did not bring forward examples that would fit in Oxley and Morris's (2013) global citizenship typologies.

School Structure

The school structure also influenced citizenship development among the students. As illustrated in Figure 1, participants believed after-school programs, the curriculum organization and opportunities for development impacted their citizenship. Participants felt it was important for the school to support them with their after-school programs. Some students believed they did get consulted on various after-school programs such as the student union, sports, club fair, and school-wide events. However, one student even believed it was all a façade for the school's publicity. When asked whether it was the Chinese or BC curriculum, the participant believed both programs focused on propaganda rather than quality. Participants in Leung et al. (2014) also noticed an overall lack of structure — perhaps this is not coincidental. Citizenship development might be an important area, but for it to improve, it requires full support and a methodically organized curriculum. Ye (2019) had an alternative suggestion: citizenship can develop through knowledge, skills, and attitudes to prepare adults to engage in the real world or take the form of social interactions to build personal preferences, awareness, and success pathways. In this case,

according to the BC Ministry of Education (2018), participants in BCOS focus on developing their social and human aspects. This approach might not be very rigid, but it allows them to take the initiative for their citizenship development.

At times, students can develop their citizenship by experiencing challenges and learning how to overcome them. Eris was experiencing challenges and was not getting the financial support to run school-wide events. However, without even realizing it, Eris was building his *Justice-oriented* citizenship by questioning the usual way things run and finding alternative ways to solve issues. In a way, Eris was acting against the traditional approach of Chinese citizenship that focuses on maintaining loyalty and being obedient to the state. Zhang and Fagan (2016) believe China has undergone many citizenship education transformations, but its objectives of maintaining social order and obedience have remained the same. In contrast to Eris, Gia believed activities such as Model United Nations shaped her perspective by learning how to respect others' beliefs. These worldviews are in line with Confucianism practices. Wang (2015) suggests that students can learn how to live in a harmonious environment by considering others' worldviews and becoming relational, which entails being able to relate to others and form meaningful relationships.

As illustrated in Figure 1, gender contributes to citizenship engagement. According to Gilligan (1982), the differences between Eris and Gia might be attributed to gender differences that arise from gender identity rather than citizenship. During the initial three years of caretaking, mothers are considered to be the main caregivers. During that time, mothers are more likely to connect with their daughters than their sons. As a consequence, daughters are more likely to perceive themselves as their mother and formulate their identity with attachment. In contrast, mothers see their sons as opposites, which indirectly pushes boys to find their masculinity and

develop more individualistic characteristics. Gia's and Eris' perspectives appear to fit this model, with Eris wanting to go against traditional approaches and Gia focusing on understanding others. The traditional approaches followed by Gia connect to Pan's (2011) multileveled dimension of a good citizen in China, which requires its citizens to connect with self, local, national, and global communities. Gia was more likely to obey and follow government citizenship practices by focusing on her relationship with the state and others, while Eris's questioning of the government practices did not allow him to connect easily with the government citizenship curriculum.

Woodman (2012) believes gender differences are attributed to a lack of human rights in China. Gender equality is unlikely to exist in a society that suppresses individual voices and does not have appropriate supervisory and legislature to protect women's rights.

Contributing Factors of Citizenship Development Engagement

Many factors can contribute to a student's engagement level in citizenship activities.

When I asked the participants to state some important reasons for their participation in citizenship activities, they believed they wanted to gain new experiences, perspectives, friends, personal skills and to feel a sense of accomplishment. While the participants' beliefs were noted, there are also external factors that could foster their citizenship development. Participants also noted some of the potential barriers that prevented students from engaging in activities.

Similar to Tu (2011), our participants believed citizenship activities could benefit one's personal development. By engaging in citizenship activities, they could make new connections that could help them learn organizational skills, strengthen their resumes, and understand other people to avoid any future conflicts. To engage in those activities, every participant had various influences that shaped their decisions. Citizenship developmental factors were aligned directly with Torney-Purta et al.'s (1999) model suggesting students' citizenship development is shaped based on their inner and outer circle. The inner circle included their families, school, informal

and formal curriculum. The outer circle expanded to the country's values, international position, political factors. However, the model rather than focusing on their interconnections, they divide the holistic process of citizenship development into two circles. At the end of the day, the student's had the power to select the activity regardless of the external factors. Those external factors had to also connect with the student, who otherwise would not be interested. A participant recognized the importance of citizenship development, yet they also believed that it could not be generic. Citizenship development had to be connected to each student's interests (sports, career, and community engagement).

Not all students can engage in activities. According to Ye (2011) and as illustrated in Figure 1, social inequalities have divided students from low to high socioeconomic statuses. Low socioeconomic status students may not have the same opportunities as higher socioeconomic students. Participants believed that the wealthier students would still develop their citizenship due to their parental support outside of the school, while those of low-socioeconomic status had to rely on the school structure, which was not always supportive. Saha (2001) believes the formal curriculum delivered by the school is not enough to teach students citizenship engagement. Students are more likely to engage in civic affairs when they are engaged in extracurricular and community programs. Students from higher socioeconomic statuses are more likely to engage in out-of-school programs than students from lower socioeconomic backgrounds (Ye, 2011). As previously mentioned, Eris was facing financial limitations that prevented him from running school-wide activities and received no additional support from the school. In Eris's case, the school appeared to support the Chinese traditional model of citizenship engagement by focusing on knowledge cultivation, loyalty and following rules. Schools should be doing more for all students, especially since they are private schools and not public schools. Leung et al. (2014)

found that participants believed it was important for schools to teach the students how to be good citizens and to create a methodical structure to engage them. Similar findings were also found in this study. Participants wanted to be educated about citizenship program benefits and commonly believed misconceptions that prevented them from engaging in them.

In this study, one factor that emerged that has not been carefully examined in the literature was the students' use of video games and the associated impact on citizenship. Participants believed that students were increasingly concentrated on playing video games and therefore not interested in engaging in other citizenship or community development activities. However, according to Bourgonjon and Soetaert (2013), "Video games appear to fulfill similar functions as traditional media such as theatre and media" (p. 7). Video games could act as a great citizenship educational tool and encourage students' participation in activities. Yet, for the media to reach its fullest potential, it must not treat video games as an isolated form but utilize game design elements (similar to *Pokémon Go*) to engage participants in citizenship initiatives and include cultural artifacts that can empower change (Spitz et al., 2018).

Overarching Questions

Participants in this study felt disadvantaged by getting educated in a public school due to the tough examinations and the inability of the teachers to assist them. Even though, the Chinese system provided them with a solid foundation in mathematics and science. The Canadian curriculum allowed them to be flexible, develop their interests and critical skills. Some participants found it challenging to transition from a Chinese to English school only and were not as confident communicating with others in their first year.

The BC Ministry of Education focused on preparing students for the real world through their Career Life Education and Career Life Connections courses. Participants were able to build on their collaboration skills by engaging in frequent discussions and group projects in their classes. Unlike during their earlier Chinese education, the participants had much more time to focus on their hobbies. The school also created after-school programs to allow them to learn and grow in areas of interest. These programs were criticized, however, for their lack of variety and minimal budget.

Students' engagement factors were directly related to the environmental setting of the school. Participants were influenced by their interests, the formal and informal curriculum, and their families. Yet, at the end of the day, it was left up to the participants to determine if they wanted to contribute to their citizenship development. In other words, students are placed at the centre of their citizenship motivation. It is also important to remember that not all participants had every opportunity to develop citizenship. Personal reasons, psychological factors, and a lack of financial resources acted as barriers to participation in citizenship activities. The participants' socioeconomic status and gender might also have affected their ability to engage. Studies have shown that participants who were mainly focused on their homework came from lower socioeconomic Chinese backgrounds in comparison to those students that partook in multiple activities outside of school. Female students' citizenship engagement has been linked towards building empathy and males focused on developing independent skills.

The lack of time and examination educational practices made it challenging for participants to engage in Chinese citizenship activities. BCOS's flexible curriculum provided them with time to explore their interests and develop their citizenship understanding. Participants felt it was important to follow the rules, engage in citizenship activities, and support the Chinese socialist values. Their perspectives were linked to Westheimer and Kahne's (2004) *Personally-responsible* and *Participatory* citizenship typologies, however, one participant embodied *Justice-responsible* and *Participatory* citizenship typologies, however, one participant embodied *Justice-*

oriented citizenship characteristics contrasting Leung et al.'s (2014) study in Hong Kong, where participants valued *Justice-oriented* citizenship. Yet, overall, the participants in Mainland China stressed the importance of *Patriotic* citizenship. Lastly, socioeconomic status, video games and gender played a role gender played roles in engaging participants' engagement in various citizenship activities.

How do BCOS participants' citizenship perspectives map onto Westheimer and Kahne's (2004) citizenship typologies?

Education is not only about passing on knowledge to students; it is also about how they engage with others to become good citizens. At times, this can be taken for granted that students in the Chinese Education system are taught to be passive learners and listen to authority rather than interacting with others. When reviewing participants' citizenship perspectives, their views were diverse: some followed the Chinese values passively and some questioned the government's approach. Three major themes emerged from the findings. Most of the participants believed in being Personally-responsible, Participatory, and Patriotic. Personally-responsible citizenship was defined as a way of caring about society, laws, and the environment. Participatory citizens were active participants in the community; Patriotic citizenship was seen as being proud of the government. *Patriotic* citizenship, in this context, was also linked with having good personal values, which is different from the common misconceptions about totalitarianism. Only one participant appeared to have some characteristics of a Justice-oriented citizen. Justice-oriented citizens challenge political ideas and question the status quo. However, citizens can develop multiple citizenship types by engaging in a single activity. For example, if an individual decided to hold an event to fundraise for Black Lives Matter, they are developing

their *Participatory* and *Justice-Oriented* citizenship. The emerged themes interact with each other rather than representing the themes individually.

Firstly, two out of the five participants mentioned a very important factor towards being *Personally-responsible* within the country. When citizens follow the law, they indirectly contribute to the government (i.e., paying their taxes, bills, working, and maintaining a clean environment). When citizens do not follow the rules, they become a burden to the country. Flora said:

If you offend the law, you are not only troubling yourself because you may get hurt at the same time if you are in the prison, the country also need to pay extra attention on you to spend money on you in order to keep you in the prison. (Flora)

Not following the rules was compared to driving under the influence of alcohol. When a person is not in the right state of mind, they cannot make wise decisions. Not making wise decisions can impact the quality of a good person. How could a person be good if they do not care about the law, the people around them, and society as a whole? Flora's definition of a good person did not only pertain to their duties but also their behaviour. "And second, is also [being] friendly to others, not only to your family, [or] other citizens, but also to foreigners who come to your city."

Bob strongly believed in *Participatory* citizenship and was also supported by the other participants when they were asked to elaborate on their perspectives further. A *Personally-responsible* person was described as someone that cares about the community, society, and the world around them. Sometimes those individuals could be found volunteering their time in the community and in different institutions to support those in need for the improvement of society. Examples included fundraising for a cause, donating clothes, and implementing programs to help

those around them. Bob also believed changes could not be done alone, requiring the support of multiple individuals to promote positive growth in the communities.

It's definitely the group of people, the society, this responsibility, this sense of a society is it's never going to be like one person and one person only. It's going to be, it must be the society as a whole, and everyone in the society contributing to the development of the community, the society, the world. A person's influence is limited on the great entrepreneurs [and] politicians are exceptions. But most people, we as an individual, our influence is very limited. So, if we combine together, if we group up, we'll be able to generate much, much bigger power. It's not about like multiplication. I often say that two people can generate power greater than one plus one. And it's more than that. And the more people participating in social movements, social contributing to the society, the better the society will be. So, it's always about the people, not a person. (Bob)

He believed politicians and entrepreneurs had the most influence in society and everyone else was just an average citizen. In his perspective, an average citizen could not contribute greatly to the community and society. However, Bob believed that bringing people together and combining their strengths could have a significant influence on the community.

In comparison, Candy focused on the government and believed one should be proud of their government and their efforts towards making changes. She felt this is connected with one's overall personality. For example, if someone is considered a good person, they are more likely to contribute to the development of the country or the government. During the interview, she said:

For example, I have one teacher [who] is like an aeronautical engineer in China. Last year, like 2020, China launched a spacecraft to Mars, but my teacher did some contribute to that mission. He participated in [one] specific part of that mission. I think that [makes

him] a good citizen, because he helped the country in specific things to make the mission better. (Candy)

Her example is one of many that focus on the collective, social contribution and the citizens' efforts to maintain societal harmony. She adds that to contribute to the government's growth efforts, citizens must develop personal (unique) skills. However, Eris had a different perspective and believed many follow the government blindly and do not attempt to question it. Eris exhibited characteristics of a *Justice-oriented* citizen rather than a *Patriotic* citizen.

People might find out the truth about some things and I don't know what the Chinese government keep doing... Which I am a little bit confused, or I don't pretty understand of these things. The result of what Chinese government has did is that China is getting stronger and stronger, and its people do have better and better life. But at some points, they hide some truth from the peoples and the majority of the people, I think didn't think that the possibility of the government also could be wrong in some cases. (Eris)

He suggested citizens should develop independent and critical thinking skills. These skills will allow citizens to distinguish truth from lies and better understand the government's wrongdoings. Being able to question and find answers is an important factor of *Justice-oriented* citizens. They seek to uncover the roots of the issue rather than follow others blindly. When interviewing Eris, he was consistently challenging the Chinese government values and wanted the truth rather than the lies he felt they portrayed in the media.

Participants in BCOS held varied views on citizenship. Some focused on personal responsibility, while others wanted to actively contribute to the community around them or strengthen their analytical skills. To my surprise, the emergence of *Justice-oriented* citizenship was only noted in one of the participants. Yet, most of them believed in building a better future

for themselves and their country. Duties as simple as paying your taxes could make you a good or bad person (within a societal perspective).

Chapter 6: Conclusion and Recommendations

When I reviewed previous literature on citizenship perspectives and typologies, I found several areas I was hoping to explore during the interview with students from BCOS in Mainland China. Through the analysis of the data, Chinese citizenship perspectives were similar across participants, yet distinctively different from Western citizenship development. In the end, I decided to highlight the key findings on citizenship curriculum organizations, the developmental factors, and the typologies that emerged from the findings. In what follows, I summarize and discuss these findings. I also included recommendations for students, schools, and the Chinese Ministry of Education to guide citizenship development at all levels. Lastly, I discuss the strength and limitations of the research and provide recommendations for future studies.

Key Findings

Education played a pivotal role in the students' lives, and this was also the case for their citizenship development too. Over the years, the BC programs have been criticized for their cultural bias towards Western students and curriculum. However, as illustrated and summarized in Figure 1, this study suggests the opposite. Flexibility within the BC curriculum allowed the participants to be creative and pursue their interests in arts or science. Arts fosters the development of subjective citizens and science creates objective citizens (Souza & Damaceno, 2017). The BC Ministry of Education (2018) created the *Vision for Student Success* policy to develop citizens' intellectual, human, social and career aspects. It allowed students to be actively engaged in the process of citizenship engagement rather than having a rigid and methodically organized curriculum (Ye, 2019). Core competencies were embedded in the curriculum to create lifelong learners and strengthen individual skills to cope in the 21st century global economy rather than relying on memorizing facts for tests. Chinese Education incorporates core

competencies into citizenship by shifting towards knowledge transmission (Ye, 2019). It provides participants with a head start in mathematics and science, but the lack of arts fails to promote citizenship engagement and behavioural changes. Participants experienced challenges in the Chinese examination system and felt they would not gain acceptance into their dream university if they did not spend a lot of time studying. They also did not feel adequately prepared for the real world. As such, the BCOS provided an alternative route to pursue their goals.

The BC Ministry of Education has clear expectations for developing citizenship, but that cannot be done without the support of the school administration. Students can also assist in the process of developing citizenship by fully immersing themselves in it. My second key finding, similar to Leung et al. (2014), was that I found four types of citizenship typologies: Personallyresponsible, Participatory, Justice-oriented, and Patriotic citizens. Personally-responsible citizens abided by the law, paid taxes, and had a job. Participatory citizens were engaged in leadership activities in the community and created charitable events within the school. Only one participant demonstrated Justice-oriented citizenship by focusing on getting to the root of an issue and questioning Chinese education. Comparing Leung et al.'s (2014) findings with this study, Patriotic and Justice-oriented citizens were viewed differently in Mainland China than in Hong Kong. This could be because Hong Kong's government policies are aligned with a more capitalistic system, and Mainland China supports a social system. Participants in Leung et al.'s (2014) study favoured Justice-oriented citizenship and this difference could be attributed to "One Country, Two systems" (p. 22). Patriotic citizenship characteristics associated with Chinese core socialist values were also highlighted by the participants, such as harmony, patriotic citizenship, building a prosperous nation and dedication to the Chinese dream. Chinese core socialist values were guided by Confucian practices of harmony and social cohesion within the nation (Gow,

2017; Zhong & Lee, 2008). In contrast, Oxley and Morris (2013) believe special obligations are morally unacceptable and are a threat to global citizenship. To no surprise, global citizenship features and examples were not brought forward by participants. Participants' Patriotic values, desire to follow the Chinese dream, and maintain loyalty to one state did not foster the development of global citizenship.

Finally, participants' engagements were influenced by inner and outer circles as discussed in Torney-Purta et al. (1999). The inner circle was composed of family, informal and formal curricula, and school, whereas the outer circle was influenced by the government and political values. Participants from higher socioeconomic families were able to gain more citizenship experience in comparison to students from lower socioeconomic families such as gender and video games appeared to affect the type of citizenship engagement. Females were more likely to develop empathetic characteristics whereas males build on independent skills under the current Chinese government structure. Participants were also concerned that students engaged in video games were distracted from citizenship activities.

Discussion

After the interviews were concluded and the data were transcribed and analyzed, I reflected on the participants' responses. I found the participants' responses on the Chinese education system, BCOS citizenship perspectives, and factors impacting engagement to be particularly interesting. Based on the literature review and personal experiences, I was aware that students wanted to receive a better education by attending BCOS, but I did not have a deep understanding of their experiences and perspectives. I found myself sympathizing with participants and understanding the challenges they were experiencing in Chinese schools. They were unable to have discussions in the classroom, the courses were primarily focused on exams,

and they had no time to explore their interests. Growing up as a student in the West, I never had to think about exploring my interests because I simply had the time to do them. I fondly remember playing football every day after school for hours. I was saddened to hear participants' challenges with excessive homework in Chinese public schools and the highly competitive educational system structure to enter university.

During the interview process, I learned that the phenomenological research approach allows the researcher to explore, understand and interpret participants' lived perspectives. However, my preconceived notions of citizenship made it difficult to understand the participants. I found myself going back and forth with the literature review and findings to better understand and interpret the data. At times, participants' lower-than-expected English language communication skills made it difficult to communicate the questions and understand their responses. This played to my benefit at the end. The level of discussion in the interview process increased, and I was able to ask more questions. By asking more questions, I was better able to interpret the data and relate it to previous studies. The participants did not hold back and spoke of the challenges they experienced with the curriculum, school, and education system both in BCOS and Mainland China. I found the data from participants' citizenship perspectives and the factors impacting their engagement to be particularly fascinating. To my surprise, participants loved China and wanted to be part of its success. In their responses, they provided evidence and examples of real-life successful contribution stories acknowledged the challenges of living in a highly populated country, and continuously re-emphasized their desire to return to China after university to support its social development and alleviate poverty. They believed that the BCOS courses, the school structure, and engagement factors contributed to their citizenship development. When I was teaching in China, Career Life Education courses were not viewed as

highly important. From the administrators' perspectives, anyone could teach them. Yet, students in this study believed that Career Life Education courses played a significant role in their citizenship development and future career. Participants felt that being a good citizen was as simple as having a full-time job and not being a burden to the system. BC programs were continuously criticized for not catering to students in the East, but this was not a concern in this study. Participants felt they were getting the best of both worlds. By being enrolled in a BC program, they were able to pick up new perspectives and compare them to their Chinese values. Social classes allowed them to discuss global issues, extracurricular activities focused on building a balanced lifestyle, and Career Life Education guided their future pathways.

Lastly, I was surprised to hear that participants were concerned about video games and that gender played a role in citizenship. The literature notes that gamification, like Pokémon Go, can positively contribute to students' citizenship development when they are well-structured (Deterding et al., 2011). In this study, the lack of structured video games may have negatively affected participants' engagement in citizenship development. I also did not realize the impact parental support at an early age and the lack of human rights in a government's legislation can have on the child's development.

Recommendations

Students

Students continuously described the BC Curriculum as flexible, as it catered to their needs and goals. Students had extra time to focus on extracurricular activities and socializing

with peers. To further support their citizenship development, below are some recommendations for BCOS students in Mainland China.

- 1. Students can become *Participatory* citizens by exploring their interests and engaging in them fully during their free time. For example, students can get involved in: Model United Nations, Student Union Affairs, Sporting Events, Social Support Groups, and Community Outreach programs. These programs allow students to develop their perspectives and expose them to real-world challenges.
- 2. Students should focus on their human and social development by actively engaging in classroom discussions to broaden their perspectives and to learn how to translate meaningful discussions into actions. Social Studies and Career Life Connections were some of the courses that were mentioned by the participants; however, every course should aim to encourage this type of classroom engagement to help students form meaningful connections. For example, mathematics can be used to learn how to become an engineer and build better facilities, transportation systems, or resource management practices.
- 3. Although financial support is controlled by the administration, students can learn other ways (e.g., fundraising) to gain the support needed to host their events. In turn, they will develop core competency skills by becoming independent, resourceful, and *Participatory* citizens.

School

The BC Ministry of Education has created curricula that support the development of citizenship within the schools. These curricula, however, could include more extracurricular

opportunities that help encourage student development and citizenship. Below are some recommendations for schools to consider when developing their programs:

- Classroom discussions and projects within Social Studies, Career Life Education, and
 Career Life Connections appeared to have a great impact on the students. Thus, schools could focus on enhancing such courses to further promote *Personally-responsible* citizenship.
- 2. Extracurricular activities should appeal to students' needs and interests; otherwise, students might not participate in them. Schools will need to continue finding ways to advertise and promote the programs by making them more accessible to students.
- 3. Schools will need to provide financial support to student-centered programs. These programs are more likely to create an equitable financial support system, appeal to students, and have a greater impact on their *Justice-oriented* citizenship development.

Ministry of Education

The BC Ministry of Education and the Canadian Government have set clear expectations for being a good citizen. However, there is a lack of educational unity among BCOS and Chinese Education.

- Chinese Education will need to integrate *Justice-oriented* citizenship into their curriculum to strengthen students' understanding of human rights and advocacy for those in need.
- 2. Chinese Education will need to further incorporate global citizenship typologies similar to that of Oxley and Morris (2013) to teach students how citizenship extends beyond their own country, not merely being good *Patriotic* Chinese citizens.

Strengths and Limitations

Previous related studies relied on university students' retrospective accounts, did not include data from secondary school students in Mainland China, nor did they involve students from Mainland China, yet their results yielded different perspectives than this research. The participants in this study were enrolled in BCOS secondary schools in Mainland China at the time of the study, and as such, were able to relate and engage in discussions of the research topic. Participants also varied in terms of gender, age, and stage in the BCOS programs.

Even though the students from this study provided me with a lot of data, the study mostly recruited students currently in leadership positions. As a result, I was unable to explore the perspectives of those students who did not regularly engage in leadership activities. More detailed data could have emerged if background information was collected methodically from participants before or during the interview process. For example, it would have been interesting to explore students enrolled in Grade 10 courses, however, I was unable to include participants from those categories due to curriculum changes in the schools. Even if I was able to collect this data, the researchers' questionnaires would have required further adjusting since the participants in both Grades 11 and 12 were experiencing challenges understanding the questions prepared for a Grade 7 reading level.

Future Studies

This study was able to gain rich data from BCOS students in Mainland China secondary school students. Future studies could focus on recruiting participants that are currently in leadership activities, as well as those students who are not. A broader sample would also help improve generalizability. Participants could also be recruited from earlier grades in secondary school (i.e., Grades 9 and 10). While I took into consideration participants' perspectives on the

citizenship curriculum, it would be interesting to also include the administrator's perspectives and views of BC Ministry of Education officials. The questions should be further adjusted to a Grade 5 or 6 level to assist with participant comprehension. Lastly, further studies will need to be done to explore video games and their impact on citizenship.

Closing Remarks

As an educator and a leader within the community, I always focused on developing students' leadership skills. This project evolved from investigating leadership to exploring citizenship perspectives in Mainland China. My goal has always been to be an active participant in citizenship development, and this research study has opened my mind to endless possibilities to accomplish this goal. At the same time, this research study also opens the conversation for future research projects.

The research questions enabled me to explore citizenship perspectives from BCOS Mainland students, curriculum citizenship approaches, and its connections with the West citizenship typologies. Participants believed that the Chinese education system does not allow students to develop their citizenship due to the lack of time and consistent focus on examination-based practices. On the other hand, BCOS allowed participants to explore their interests and engage in more citizenship programs. BCOS students' citizenship was influenced by their engagement level, the curriculum structure, and the school support system. Given participants' critiques, it was interesting to hear their love for China and their desire to return after attending university and contribute to its development.

References

- Alexander, I. (2019). Chinese international student perspectives of their British Columbia offshore school experiences. [Master's thesis, University of Victoria]. VicSpace. https://dspace.library.uvic.ca/handle/1828/11077?show=full
- Bislev, A., & Li, X. (2014). Conceptualizing the cultural and political facets of "Chinese Nationalism" in an era of China's global rise. *International Communication of Chinese Culture*, 1(1–2), 21–33. https://doi.org/10.1007/s40636-014-0002-x
- Bourgonjon, J., & Soetaert, R. (2013). Video games and citizenship. *CLCWeb: Comparative Literature and Culture*, 15(3), 8. https://doi.org/10.7771/1481-4374.2245
- Bunnell, T., Fertig, M., & James, C. (2016). What is international about International Schools?

 An institutional legitimacy perspective. *Oxford Review of Education*, *42*(4), 408–423.

 https://doi.org/10.1080/03054985.2016.1195735
- Canadian Bureau for International Education. (2021, February 25). *Infographic*. Retrieved October 25, 2021, from https://cbie.ca/infographic/.
- Chia, Y. T., & Zhao, Z. (2020). Citizenship and education in China: Contexts, perspectives, and understandings. *Chinese Education & Society*, *53*(1–2), 1–2. https://doi.org/10.1080/10611932.2020.1716590
- Clarke, V., & Braun, V. (2013). Teaching thematic analysis: Overcoming challenges and developing strategies for effective learning. *Psychologist*, 26(2), 120–123.
- Creswell, J. W., & Creswell, J. D. (2017). Research design: Qualitative, quantitative, and mixed methods approaches. SAGE publications.

- Darrieux de Souza, M. & Damaceno, F. K. (2017). Horizontal pedagogical experiences relating sciences, art and citizenship. *Alteridad* (Cuenca, Ecuador), 12(2), 155–. https://doi.org/10.17163/alt.v12n2.2017.02
- Deterding, Dixon, D., Khaled, R., & Nacke, L. (2011). From game design elements to gamefulness: defining "gamification." Proceedings of the 15th International Academic MindTrek Conference, 9–15. https://doi.org/10.1145/2181037.2181040
- Elstein, D. (2009). The authority of the master in the *Analects*. *Philosophy East and West,* 142(2), 142–172. https://doi.org/10.1353/pew.0.0052
- Fei, X., Hamilton, G. G., & Wang, Z. (1992). From the soil. The foundations of Chinese society:

 A translation of Fei Xiaotong's Xiangtu Zhongguo, with an introduction and epilogue.

 University of California Press.
- Goren, H., & Yemini, M. (2017). Global citizenship education redefined A systematic review of empirical studies on global citizenship education. *International Journal of Educational Research*, 82, 170–183. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ijer.2017.02.004
- Government of British Columbia. (2021). *B.C. Offshore Schools*.

 www2.gov.bc.ca/gov/content/education-training/k-12/administration/programmanagement/international-education/offshore-schools/offshore-schools
- Gow, M. (2017). The core socialist values of the Chinese dream: Towards a Chinese integral state. *Critical Asian Studies*, 49(1), 92–116. https://doi.org/10.1080/14672715.2016.1263803
- He, S. (2017). An overview of China's ethnic groups and their interactions. *Sociology Mind*, 07(01), 1–10. https://doi.org/10.4236/sm.2017.71001

- Hofferth, S. L., & Sandberg, J. F. (2001). How American children spend their time. *Journal of Marriage and Family*, 63(2), 295–308. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1741-3737.2001.00295.x
- Immigration, Refugees and Citizenship Canada. (2021, June 8). *Be active in your community*.

 Government of Canada. https://www.canada.ca/en/immigration-refugeescitizenship/services/canadian-citizenship/take-part-citizenship/active-community.html
- Jakimów, M. (2012). Chinese citizenship 'after orientalism': Academic narratives on internal migrants in China. *Citizenship Studies*, 16(5–6), 657–671. https://doi.org/10.1080/13621025.2012.698488
- Löfgren, K. (2013, May 19). *Qualitative analysis of interview data: A step by step guide* [Video file]. YouTube. https://www.youtube.com/watch?v=DRL4PF2u9XA
- Lave, J., & Wenger, E. (1991). Situated learning: legitimate peripheral participation. Cambridge University Press.
- Laverty, S. M. (2003). Hermeneutic phenomenology and phenomenology: A comparison of historical and methodological considerations. *International journal of qualitative methods*, 2(3), 21–35. https://doi.org/10.1177/160940690300200303
- Law, W.-W., & Ng, H. M. (2009). Globalization and multileveled citizenship education: A tale of two Chinese cities, Hong Kong and Shanghai. *Teachers College Record: The Voice of Scholarship in Education*, 111(4), 851–892.

https://doi.org/10.1177/016146810911100406

- Lee, H. D. P. (2003). The republic. Penguin.
- Lee, W. O. (2009). Conceptualising citizenship and citizenship education: A trajectory of exploring Asian perspectives. The Hong Kong Institute of Education.

- Leung, W., Yuen, T. W. W., Cheng, E. C. K., & Chow, J. K. F. (2014). Is student participation in school governance a "Mission impossible"? *Journal of Social Science Education*, 13(4), 26–40.
- Liu, J. (2011). Articulating citizenship: Civic education and student politics in Southeastern China, 1912–1942 (review). *China Review International*, *18*(2), 179–182. https://www.jstor.org/stable/i23733013
- Liu, S. (2018). Neoliberal global assemblages: The emergence of "public" international high-school curriculum programs in China. *Curriculum Inquiry*, 48(2), 203–219. https://doi.org/10.1080/03626784.2018.1435977
- Lombardo, & Verloo, M. M. (2009). contentious citizenship: feminist debates and practices and European challenges. *Feminist Review*, 92(1), 108–128. https://doi.org/10.1057/fr.2009.2
- Marshall, T. H. (1964). Class, citizenship and social development. Doubleday.
- McCowan, T. (2009). Rethinking citizenship education: A curriculum for participatory democracy. Continuum.
- Merriam, S. B., & Tisdell, E. J. (2016). *Qualitative research: A guide to design and implementation*. John Wiley & Sons.
- Ministry of Education. (2018). Vision for student success Province of British Columbia.

 https://www2.gov.bc.ca/gov/content/education-training/k-12/administration/programmanagement/vision-for-student-success
- Ministry of Education. (2021). *Curriculum* | *Building Student Success B.C. Curriculum*. https://curriculum.gov.bc.ca/curriculum

- Niens, U., & Reilly, J. (2012). Education for global citizenship in a divided society? Young people's views and experiences. *Comparative Education*, 48(1), 103–118. https://doi.org/10.1080/03050068.2011.637766
- Osiadacz, E. (2018). Global citizen. *Brock Education Journal*, 27(2), 44–47. https://doi.org/10.26522/brocked.v27i2.575
- Oxley, L., & Morris, P. (2013). Global citizenship: A typology for distinguishing its multiple conceptions. *British Journal of Educational Studies*, *61*(3), 301–325. https://doi.org/10.1080/00071005.2013.798393
- Pan, S.-Y. (2011). Multileveled citizenship and citizenship education: Experiences of students in China's Beijing. *Citizenship Studies*, *15*(2), 283–306. https://doi.org/10.1080/13621025.2011.549730
- Rashkow, B. C. (2014). Immunity of the United Nations: Practice and challenges. *International Organizations Law Review*, 10(2), 332–348. https://doi.org/10.1163/15723747-01002006
- Reysen, S., & Katzarska-Miller, I. (2013). A model of global citizenship: Antecedents and outcomes. *International Journal of Psychology, 48*(5), 858–870. https://doi.org/10.1080/00207594.2012.701749
- Saha, L. J. (2000). Education and active citizenship: Prospects and issues. *Educational Practice* and Theory, 22(1), 9–20. https://doi.org/10.7459/ept/22.1.02
- Schuetze, H. G., Sumin, L., & Lin, G. (2008). *Canadian offshore schools in China*. Asia Pacific Foundation of Canada.
- Shimbo, A. (2009). The progress of globalization and educational reforms in East Asia. *Educational Studies in Japan, 4*(0), 117–122. https://doi.org/10.7571/esjkyoiku.4.117

- Spitz, R., Pereira Junior, C., Queiroz, F., Leite, L. C., Dam, P., & Rezende, A. C. (2018).

 Gamification, citizen science, and civic technologies: In search of the common good.

 Strategic Design Research Journal, 11(3), 263–273.

 https://doi.org/10.4013/sdrj.2018.113.11
- Steffenhagen, J. (2013, July 21). Sweeping new rules for B.C. offshore schools draw praise, caution. Vancouver Sun. https://vancouversun.com/news/education/sweeping-new-rules-for-bc-offshore-schools-draw-praise-caution
- Tan, C. (2020). A Confucian Conception of Citizenship Education. In A. Peterson, G. Stahl, &
 H. Soong (Eds.), *The Palgrave Handbook of Citizenship and Education* (pp. 3–15).
 Springer International Publishing. https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-319-67828-3
- Tan, T. W., & Chew, L. C. (2008). Political pragmatism and citizenship training in Singapore. In *Citizenship curriculum in Asia and the Pacific* (pp. 147–161). Springer, Dordrecht.
- Tidikis, V., & Dunbar, N. D. (2019). Openness to experience and creativity: When does global citizenship matter? *International Journal of Psychology*, *54*(2), 264–268. https://doi.org/10.1002/ijop.12463
- Torney-Purta, J., Schwille, J., & Amadeo, J. A. (1999). *Civic education across countries:*Twenty-four national case studies from the IEA civic education project. International Association for the Evaluation of Educational Achievement.
- Tu, Y. (2011). Citizenship with Chinese characteristics? An investigation into Chinese university students' civic perceptions and civic participation. *Frontiers of Education in China*, *6*(3), 426–448. https://doi.org/10.1007/S11516-011-0140-4
- Wang, C. (2015). Confucianism and citizenship: A review of opposing conceptualizations. In Z. Guo, & S. Guo (Eds.), *Theorizing Chinese citizenship* (pp. 49–82). Lexington Books.

- Wang, C. (2018). Confucian selfhood and the idea of multicultural education. In Z. Liu, & W. Ma (Eds.), Confucianism reconsidered: Insights for American and Chinese education in the twenty-first century (pp. 183–202). Sunypress.
- Wang, F. (2017). Canadian offshore schools in China: A comparative policy analysis. *Journal of Education Policy*, 32(5), 523–541. https://doi.org/10.1080/02680939.2017.1303545
- Watkins, D. A., & Biggs, J. B. (1996). The Chinese learner: Cultural, psychological, and contextual influences. Comparative Education Research Centre, Faculty of Education, University of Hong Kong, Pokfulam Road, Hong Kong; The Australian Council for Educational Research, Ltd.
- Wayne State University. (2015, February 4). *Top ten best proverbs about language learning*.

 Classical & Modern Languages, Literatures and Cultures.

 https://clas.wayne.edu/languages/news/top-ten-best-proverbs-about-language-learning-33572
- Weaver, A. J., & Lewis, N. (2012). Mirrored morality: An exploration of moral choice in video games. *Cyberpsychology, Behavior, and Social Networking*, *15*(11), 610–614. https://doi.org/10.1089/cyber.2012.0235
- WebFX, Inc. (2021). Readability test. https://www.webfx.com/tools/read-able/
- Wen, & Clément, R. (2003). A Chinese Conceptualisation of Willingness to Communicate in ESL. *Language, Culture, and Curriculum*, 16(1), 18–38. https://doi.org/10.1080/07908310308666654
- Westheimer, J., & Kahne, J. (2004). What Kind of Citizen? The Politics of Educating for Democracy. *American Educational Research Journal*, 41(2), 237–269. https://doi.org/10.3102/00028312041002237

- Woodman, S. (2012). [Review of GENDER EQUALITY, CITIZENSHIP AND HUMAN RIGHTS:

 Controversies and Challenges in China and the Nordic Countries]. Pacific affairs, 85(1),

 180–.Pacific Affairs. The University of British Columbia.
- Wu, X. (2008). The power of positional competition and market mechanism: A case study of recent parental choice development in China. *Journal of Education Policy*, 23(6), 595– 614. https://doi.org/10.1080/02680930802209735
- Ye, H. (2015). Key-point schools and entry into tertiary education in China. *Chinese Sociological Review*, 47(2), 128–153. https://doi.org/10.1080/21620555.2014.990321
- Ye, W. (2018). Socioeconomic status and out-of-school citizenship education in China's Shanghai. *Education and Urban Society*, 50(7), 641–669.

 https://doi.org/10.1177/0013124517713609
- Ye, W. (2019). Students' citizenship competence learning in China's Yangzhong City. *British Journal of Educational Studies*, 67(4), 513–539.

 https://doi.org/10.1080/00071005.2018.1453045
- Zhang, X. (2015). "As far as the government is a good government, it is democratic:" Citizenship education in China. *Citizenship, Social and Economics Education, 14*(3), 218–229. https://doi.org/10.1177/2047173416631140
- Zhang, C., & Fagan, C. (2016). Examining the role of ideological and political education on university students' civic perceptions and civic participation in Mainland China: Some hints from contemporary citizenship theory. *Citizenship, Social and Economics Education*, 15(2), 117–142. https://doi.org/10.1177/2047173416681170
- Zhong, M., & Lee, W. O. (2008). Citizenship Curriculum in China: A Shifting Discourse towards Chinese Democracy, Law Education and Psychological Health. In D. L.

Grossman, W. O. Lee, & K. J. Kennedy (Eds.), *Citizenship Curriculum in Asia and the Pacific* (pp. 61–73). Springer Netherlands. https://doi.org/10.1007/978-1-4020-8745-5_4
Zhou, S., & Cheung, M. (2017). Hukou system effects on migrant children's education in China: Learning from past disparities. *International Social Work, 60*(6), 1327–1342. https://doi.org/10.1177/0020872817725134

Appendix A: Research Ethics Board Approval



Research Ethics Board t: (807) 343-8283 research@lakeheadu.ca

November 05, 2020

Principal Investigator: Dr. Gary Pluim Student Investigator: Erald Vero Faculty of Education (Orillia Campus) Lakehead University

Dear Dr. Pluim and Erald:

Re: Romeo File No: 1468262 Granting Agency: N/A Agency Reference #: N/A

On behalf of the Research Ethics Board, I am pleased to grant ethical approval to your research project titled, "A Qualitative Study: Understanding Chinese Citizenship Perspectives through Canadian Offshore School students in Mainland China".

Ethics approval is valid until November 5, 2021. Please submit a Request for Renewal to the Office of Research Services via the Romeo Research Portal by October 5, 2021 if your research involving human participants will continue for longer than one year. A Final Report must be submitted promptly upon completion of the project. Access the Romeo Research Portal by logging into myInfo at:

https://erpwp.lakeheadu.ca/

During the course of the study, any modifications to the protocol or forms must not be initiated without prior written approval from the REB. You must promptly notify the REB of any adverse events that may occur.

Best wishes for a successful research project.

Sincerely,

Dr. Kristin Burnett Chair, Research Ethics Board

/sw

Appendix B - Research Committee Information Letter



FACULTY OF EDUCATION

Research Committee Information Letter

I am writing to request a permission to access students at British Colombia Offshore Schools (BCOS) for
the purposes of conducting a research project investigating citizenship experiences of students in
Mainland China. The title of the study is: A Qualitative Study: Understanding Chinese Citizenship
Perspectives through Canadian Offshore School students in Mainland China. I am seeking potential
participants who are grade 11 or 12 students, good communications skills in English and leaders within

the school community.

Dear ______,

The intent of this research holds two purposes. Firstly, it is being conducted to fulfill the requirements for the Master of Education at Lakehead University. My thesis supervisor for this research is Dr. Gary Pluim from Lakehead University and may be contacted at +1 705 330 4008 ext. 2626 or at gpluim@lakeheadu.ca. Secondly, the research study may provide insights into students' own educational experiences, help assess the impacts of BCOS citizenship curriculum development, and the cultural implications associated with it.

Participants will receive a recruitment poster, an information letter, and a consent form that must be signed by their guardian and return it to the researcher. Upon collection of the consent form, the researcher will collaborate with the school administrator to find a quiet and private room for the participant to engage in the study. The information will be gathered through Zoom audio recorded interviews (30-40 minutes). If necessary, a short follow-up discussion will be conducted to clarify any content from the interview.

All information collected by the participants will remain confidential. School names and locations will be also confidential and will not be made known in the publication of the research. All audio-recordings and transcriptions will be safely stored within Lakehead University for 5 years. However, upon participants request the findings may be shared via email and a copy of the M.Ed thesis will be available at Lakehead University Library. At the end of the study, a copy of the research results will be sent to you via email.

If you are interested in being part of this research or have any questions about the proposed study, please contact me at +86 131 6021 8713 or by email at evero@lakeheadu.ca. This study has been reviewed and received ethics clearance through Lakehead University Research Ethics Board. If you have any questions related to the ethics of the research and would like to speak to someone outside of the research team, please contact Sue Wright at the Research Ethics Board at +1 807-343-8283 or research@lakeheadu.ca.

Sincerely,

Erald Vero

Appendix C: Administrators Information Letter



FACULTY OF EDUCATION

Administrators Information Letter

|--|

I am Erald Vero, a graduate student at Lakehead University, Canada. I would like to request the participation of students from your school in a study that I am conducting on citizenship perspectives of students in British Colombian Offshore Schools in Mainland China. The study may provide insights into students' educational experiences, help assess the impacts of BCOS citizenship curriculum development, and explore the associated cultural implications. I hope to recruit 4-6 students for this study, and I plan to conduct the interviews during 2020-2021 school year. I am seeking students who attend grade 11 or 12, communicate well in English and are leaders within the school community.

What is involved for your school?

- School personnel would be asked to send a recruitment email to students. I will provide the text
 of this email, and a poster to be attached.
- School personnel would be asked to provide a private, quiet room with adequate Wi-Fi
 connection for me to contact the participant for a 30-40 minutes interview at a predetermined
 date, time and location.
- Staff should be available via email to connect with the participant in an occurrence of any technical issues.

What are the benefits and honorarium to your school?

- . Upon request, I will provide you with the findings of the study
- The findings may contribute towards curriculum development of the BCOS programs.

Included in this email you will find the complete project information including;

- Recruitment Posters
- Information Letter
- Consent Form
- · Guided questions for the participants

Ethics Information

This study has received approval from Maple Leaf Educational Systems Research Committee and its CEO to pursue this invitation to school administrators to request the participation of their students in a 30-40 minute interview.

This study has also been reviewed and received ethics clearance through Lakehead University Research Ethics Board. If you have any questions related to the ethics of the research and would like to speak to someone outside of the research team, please contact Sue Wright at the Research Ethics Board at +1 807-343-8283 or research@lakeheadu.ca.

If you are interested in being part of this research or have any questions about the proposed study, please contact me at +86 131 6021 8713 or by email at evero@lakeheadu.ca.

Sincerely,

Erald Vero

Appendix D: Recruitment Poster



Understanding Chinese Citizenship
Perspectives through Canadian Offshore
School students in Mainland China.



Are you Grade 11 or 12? Do you speak and understand English well? Are you a leader at school?

Participants will engage in a 30-40 minute discussion.

For more information or to join the study contact:

Erald Vero
+86 131 6021 8713
evero@lakeheadu.ca

This study has been reviewed by Lakehead University, and received ethics clearance through Lakehead University Research Ethics Board.

Appendix E: Body of Email for Administrators



FACULTY OF EDUCATION

Body of Email for Administrators

Dear students,

As a student at a British Columbia Offshore Schools you are invited to participate in a research study run by Erald Vero, a student from Lakehead University in Ontario Canada. A poster with information about the study is attached. If you would like to participate in the study, please contact Erald. His contact email is found below and on the attached poster. You are not required to participate in this study and whether you do or don't, your school marks or relationship with BCOS will not be affected.

Please contact Erald with any questions at evero@lakeheadu.ca.

Appendix F: Participants Information Letter (2 pages)



FACULTY OF EDUCATION

Participants Information Letter

Dear Potential Participant,

Thank you for contacting me after seeing the Poster about my study. This letter will provide you with more information to help you decide if you would like to participate in the study. As part of my Graduate Research at Lakehead University, I am looking for students who are in the following:

- · BC Program
- Grade 11 or 12
- · Understand and speak well in English
- · Leaders within the school

Taking part in this study is voluntary. Please read this letter carefully to understand the study. After you have read the letter, feel free to ask any questions.

PURPOSE

The purpose of this letter is to invite you to participate in a study. It will explore citizenship at British Columbia (BC) schools in China. The title of the study is "A Qualitative Study: Understanding Chinese Citizenship Perspectives through Canadian Offshore School students in Mainland China". This study has no sponsors or funders.

WHAT INFORMATION WILL BE COLLECTED?

If you agree to take part in the study, an interview date will be discussed between us. I will send you the questions before the interview. Topics may include your citizenship activities at BC schools, personal interests and experiences with Canadian and Chinese education.

You might be asked questions about topics which are difficult or may upset you; you do not need to answer any question if you do not wish to. If you do not wish to answer a question, please say 'no comment' during the interview.

Your words may be directly quoted in the M.Ed Thesis. At the end of the interview, you can decide if you would like to delete or change any of your responses. You also have the right to take away data consent. You can take as long as you need to do this.

WHAT IS REQUESTED OF ME AS A PARTICIPANT?

The information will be gathered through audio-recorded interviews (30-40 minutes). Due to COVID-19 safety guidelines, the interview will be on Zoom meetings. If necessary, an additional short chat via Zoom may occur after the interview to clarify any answers.

WHAT ARE MY RIGHTS AS A PARTICIPANT?

Your input is voluntary and are under no duty to participate. You are free to withdraw at any time without any bias or negative effects. Your decision to participate will not in any way affect your school grades.



FACULTY OF EDUCATION

WHAT ARE THE RISKS AND BENEFITS?

The research study is of minimal risk. You may feel uncomfortable speaking about your personal views of difficult topics. However, I will be careful when asking questions to avoid any stress. If such situation does arise, I will suggest you visit the nearest psychologist or call the hotline service "12345". By being part of this study, there are no direct benefits and it may give you an opportunity to reflect on your own citizenship practices.

HOW WILL MY PRIVACY BE MAINTAINED?

Zoom interviews might be monitored by unknown third-party agents and Chinese government. While 100% privacy cannot be guaranteed, the following measures will be set in place to maintain your privacy:

- Your name will be replaced and analyzed by a fake name.
- Any possible identification information will be removed.
- Before the Zoom meeting, a passcode will be sent to you, a waiting room will be set up and you will be required to log in with an approved email address or Zoom account.
- · The computer that has the data will have a password.

WHAT WILL MY DATA BE USED FOR?

The study will be reviewed by the Dr. Gary Pluim and a Faculty of Education committee at Lakehead University. The study will also be presented at the Comparative & International Education Society conference. You can request a summary and a copy of the results by emailing or calling Erald Vero.

WHERE WILL MY DATA BE STORED?

Data collected from this study will be stored in the researcher's office for a minimum period of five years with Lakehead University in the Faculty of Education at the Orillia, Ontario, Canada campus. If you wish to access the data, you must seek permission from Erald Vero and can only view your own data.

CONTACT INFORMATION:

If you are interested in participating in this study or have any questions, feel free to contact me (the researcher) or research supervisor.

Researcher: Erald Vero Supervisor: Gary Pluim

 Office: +86 131 6021 8713
 Office: +1 705 330 4008 ext. 2626

 Email: evero@lakeheadu.ca
 Email gpluim@lakeheadu.ca

ETHICS REVIEW AND APPROVAL:

I have completed a course on ethics involving humans and gave a copy to my supervisor. This study has been reviewed and approved by Lakehead University. If you have any questions on the ethics of the research and would like to speak to someone, please contact Sue Wright at the Research Ethics Board at +1 807-343-8283 or research@lakeheadu.ca.

Appendix G: Consent Form for Potential Participants



FACULTY OF EDUCATION

Consent Form for Potential Participants

MY CONSENT:

I agree to the following:

- ✓ I have read and understand the information contained in the Information Letter.
- ✓ I agree to participate in an interview through Zoom.
- ✓ I understand the risks and benefits of the study.
- I am a volunteer and can drop from the study at any time and may refrain from answering any questions.
- That the data will be securely stored at Lakehead University for a minimum period of 5 years.
- ✓ I understand that the findings will be made available to me upon request.
- ✓ I understand that all steps will be taken to ensure confidentiality and anonymity. For example, our Zoom meetings will require a password to provide a layer of privacy. However, given the possibility that third-party agents, the Chinese government, and other technologically proficient individuals may have the skills to monitor our interviews, it is not possible to guarantee full confidentiality and anonymity.
- ✓ I authorize the use of audio recording for the during the interview.
- ✓ All of my questions have been answered.

By agreeing to participate, I have not waived any rights to legal recourse in the event of research-related harm.

Participant Name	Signature	Date
Legal Guardian Name	Signature	Date
Recearcher Name	Signature	

Please sign and return this form to Erald Vero. A copy of this consent form will be provided to the study supervisor. For further information concerning the completion of this form, please contact:

Erald Vero Lakehead University Office: +86 131 6021 8713 Email: evero@lakeheadu.ca

Appendix H: Guiding Questions



FACULTY OF EDUCATION

Guiding Questions

- Let's talk about your background, tell me a little bit about yourself, how old are you and what city were you born?
- 2. Have you ever lived outside of China? If yes, Where?
- 3. What are some of your interests at school?
- 4. What sparked you interest to attend a Canadian International School?
- 5. What were some of the challenges and benefits between the Canadian and Chinese education?
- 6. What constitutes a good citizen?
- 7. How might others describe you as a person?
- 8. How does the Canadian curriculum shape you as a citizen inside and outside of the classroom?
- 9. What type of school policies are set in place to foster a citizenship development? How are they implemented?
- 10. What are some of the benefits in engaging in citizenship activities?
- 11. How does the school consult students on school policies?
- 12. What type of activities are you attending that help you grow as a citizen?
- 13. What hinders students' participation in citizenship activities?
- 14. What helps students participate in citizenship activities?